
 

 
Individuals with disabilities requiring auxiliary aids or services should contact: Director of Community Planning and Development 
Timothy R. Schmitt, 5151 Marsh Road, Okemos, MI 48864 or 517.853.4506 - Ten Day Notice is Required.  
Meeting Location: 5151 Marsh Road, Okemos, MI 48864 
 
 

AGENDA 
CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN  

PLANNING COMMISSION – REGULAR MEETING 
June 24, 2024 6:30 PM 

1. CALL MEETING TO ORDER 

2. ROLL CALL 

3. PUBLIC REMARKS 

4. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

5. APPROVAL OF MINUTES  
A. June 10, 2024 

 
6. COMMUNICATIONS 

A. Gia McIntosh re: REZ #24013 
 

7. PUBLIC HEARINGS 
A. REZ #24015 – Copper Creek Phase 5 
B. SUP #24017 – Herbana Adult Use Marijuana 

 
8. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

A. TA #24010 – Sec. 36-377 – RN – Village of Nemoka Ordinance Update 
B. SUP #24012 – Consumers Transfer Station (Rutherford Drive) 

 
9. OTHER BUSINESS 

A. Resolution of Appreciation – James McCurtis  
B. Corridor Improvement Authority Appointment 

 
10. REPORTS AND ANNOUNCEMENTS 

A. Township Board update. 
B. Liaison reports. 

 
11. PROJECT UPDATES 

A. Project Report  
 

12. PUBLIC REMARKS 

13. COMMISSIONER COMMENTS 

14. ADJOURNMENT 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



AGENDA page 2 
CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN  
PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING 

June 24, 2024 6:30 PM 

 
Individuals with disabilities requiring auxiliary aids or services should contact: Director of Community Planning and Development 
Timothy R. Schmitt, 5151 Marsh Road, Okemos, MI 48864 or 517.853.4506 - Ten Day Notice is Required.  
Meeting Location: 5151 Marsh Road, Okemos, MI 48864 
 
Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 
 

 
 

TENTATIVE PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA 
July 8, 2024 

  
1. PUBLIC HEARINGS  

A. None 
 

2. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
A. REZ #24013 – Fedewa Holdings (Dobie Road) 
B. REZ #24015 – Copper Creek Phase 5 
C. SUP #24017 – Herbana Adult Use Marijuana 
 

3. OTHER BUSINESS 
A. None 

 



Page 1 

CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN 
REGULAR MEETING PLANNING COMMISSION -DRAFT- 
5151 Marsh Road, Okemos MI 48864-1198 
517.853.4000, Township Hall Room 
Monday, June 10, 2024, 6:30 pm 
 
PRESENT: Chair Shrewsbury, Vice-Chair Snyder, Commissioners Blumer, Brooks, McConnell, 

and Scales 

ABSENT: None 

STAFF: Principal Planner Brian Shorkey 

 
1. CALL MEETING TO ORDER 

 
Chair Shrewsbury called the June 10, 2024, regular meeting for the Meridian Township Planning 
Commission to order at 6:31 pm. 
 

2. ROLL CALL 
 
Chair Shrewsbury called the roll of the Board. All board members present. 
 

3. PUBLIC REMARKS 
 
Chair Shrewsbury opened public remarks at 6:32 pm 
 
Trustee James McCurtis thanked the commission for the honor and privilege of serving with 
them during his term. 
 
Roger Taylor, Township resident, asked the Commission how many dispensaries the Township 
needs. 
 
Debora Dantus, Township resident, spoke against marijuana dispensaries. 
 
Clara Regal, Township resident, spoke against marijuana dispensaries, specifically the location 
of one of the dispensaries. 
 
Dr. David Pawsat, Township resident, spoke against marijuana dispensaries. 
 
Jay Meyer, Township resident, spoke against marijuana dispensaries. 
 

4. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 
Commissioner McConnel moved to approve the June 10, 2024, regular Planning 
Commission meeting agenda. Seconded by Commissioner Scales. Motion passed 
unanimously. 

 
5. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

 
Chair Shrewsbury asked that the wording of the adjournment of the meeting be changed to 
reflect the word “adjourn” instead of the word “close.” 



Page 2 

 
Commissioner Scales moved to approve the Minutes of the May 13, 2024, Planning 
Commission Regular Meeting as amended. Seconded by Commissioner Blumer. Motion 
passed unanimously as amended. 
 

6. COMMUNICATIONS 
A. Kalyani Vangala re: SUP #24009 (Email) 
B. Mohan Madala, MD re: SUP #24009 (Email) 
C. Soumya Madala re: SUP #24009 (Email) 
D. Liz Kesler re: SUP #24009 (Email) 
E. Judith Leibinger/Richard York re: SUP #24009 (Email) 
F. Seth Kesler re: SUP #24009 (Email) 
G. Ellen Hoekstra re: SUP #24009 (Email) 
H. Satish Udpa re: SUP #24009 (Email) 
I. Xiaoping Li re: SUP #24009 (Email) 
J. Daniel Thompson re: SUP #24009 (Email) 
K. Sonh Su Kim re: SUP #24009 (Email) 
L. Zhichao Cao re: SUP #24009 (Email) 
M. Howard and Marlene Stover re: SUP #24009 (Email) 
N. Williamston Township Intent to Plan (Email) 
O. Alison Kochan re: SUP #24009 (Email) 

 
7. PUBLIC HEARINGS 

 
Principal Planner Shorkey gave an overview of the Public Hearing process.  Principal Planner 
Shorkey noted that, with regards to the rezoning hearing, it is only in regards to the rezoning.  
The ensuing special use permit will come up for a public hearing in the future if the rezoning is 
approved. 
 

A. TA #24010 – Sec. 36-377 – RN – Village of Nemoka Ordinance Update 
 

Chair Shrewsbury opened the Public Hearing at 6:48 pm. 
 
Principal Planner Shorkey explained the project submitted for text amendment.   
 
Chair Shrewsbury closed the public hearing at 6:54 pm. By voice vote, the Planning 
Commission indicated support for the application. 
 

B. SUP #24012 – Consumers Transfer Station (Rutherford Drive) 
 
Chair Shrewsbury opened the public hearing at 6:54. 
 
Principal Planner Shorkey explained the project submitted for SUP.  
 
Anthony Stepke and Amy Gilpin, representatives for Consumers Energy, explained the 
need for the project.  The current station provides gas to the neighborhood.  It is in the 
right-of-way and it is outdated, issues that can be corrected if the SUP is approved. Mr. 
Stepke gave additional details regarding the upgrades that will be provided by creating 
a new station.  
 



Page 3 

Commissioner McConnell asked for more information about the variance application 
for the fence.  Mr. Stepke explained that a fence height is a requirement for safety, and 
in this instance part of the fence will be opaque as part of an agreement with the 
neighboring landowner.  Principal Planner Shorkey clarified that concerns about the 
fence can be directed to the ZBA. 
 
Commissioner Scales asked for the density of the population that the station will serve 
with regards to consideration of critical infrastructure.  Mr. Stepke indicated that he 
will need to return to the Commission with the number of people served.  Mr. Stepke 
stated that part of the reason for the application is because it serves many people and 
gave detail about how the station works to regulate gas pressure. 
 
Vice-chair Snyder asked for more details about the appearance.  Mr. Stepke gave details 
about what components will be visible above grade. 
 
Roger Taylor, township resident, asked if a geological survey will be done to assess 
where rainwater will go with the change in grade and if an environmental survey will 
be done on the valves that are in the ground. 
 
Chair Shrewsbury closed the public hearing at 7:20 pm. By voice vote, the Planning 
Commission indicated support for the application. 
 

C. REZ #24013 – Fedewa Holdings (Dobie Road) 
 

Chair Shrewsbury opened the public hearing at 7:20 pm. 
 
Principal Planner Shorkey explained the project submitted for REZ.  
 
Jerry Fedewa, David Fedewa, and Greg Fedewa, representatives for Fedewa Holdings, 
explained the need for the rezoning.  Explained that their plans avoid the need for a 
variance request. 
 
Commissioner Scales asked for clarity about the number of units.  Jerry Fedewa 
explained that the number is still flexible because he has not spoken with the engineers 
to get details about the specific needs of the site.  Once the details are available, the 
exact number of units will be determined.  Principal Planner Shorkey clarified that if the 
REZ is approved, the project will need to gather more information to provide specifics 
when they apply for an SUP. 
 
Chair Shrewsbury asked if affordability was being considered.  Jerry Fedewa clarified 
that affordable units would result in higher density and would not provide garages and 
commented that there is a need in the community for the planned type of housing. 
 
Joel Major, Township resident, spoke against the application, citing the denial of the 
2019 rezoning application. 
 
Michael McIntosh, Township resident, spoke against the application. 
 
Kristina Kloc, Township resident, spoke against the application.  
 
David Kloc, Township resident, spoke against the application. 
 



Page 4 

Cecelia Kramer, Township resident and Faith Lutheran member, spoke in favor of the 
application.  Ms. Kramer clarified that the church will be moving the driveway, not 
eliminating it. 
 
John McCracken, Faith Lutheran member, spoke in favor of the application. Mr. 
McCracken stated that the only interest in the property has been multi-family 
development. 
 
Wayne Popard, Township resident, spoke against the application. 
 
Commissioner Blumer asked the applicant if they had architectural plans.  Jerry Fedewa 
returned to clarify that there are currently no architectural drawings in this preliminary 
stage.  Mr. Fedewa also commented that the Drain Commissioner’s Office will require 
the development have appropriate drainage and that office will need to approve the 
plan.  
 
Chair Shrewsbury closed the public hearing and opened Board Member comment at 
8:03 pm.  
 
Commissioner Blumer spoke in support of the developer but spoke against the 
application because it is not consistent with the neighborhood regarding density and 
land use planning.  Commissioner Blumer asked if the western-most block of buildings 
could instead be planted as a buffer for view and traffic for the neighborhood. 
 
Commissioner McConell spoke in support of the application because it is consistent 
with the Master Plan and in appropriate proximity to amenities but spoke against it 
because he recognizes the inconsistency with the neighborhood.   
 
Commissioner Scales acknowledged residents concerns and stated that the application 
is consistent with the Master Plan and he would like to hear more about the proposed 
development. 
 
Chair Shrewsbury clarified to residents that this is just one step in a multi-step process 
and Commission support at this step does not mean the project is approved. 
 
Vice-chair Snyder expressed her concern that this application does not meet the Master 
Plan goal to increase middle-housing development and does not support the application 
for this reason.  Vice-chair Snyder asked if the Commission could be provided with the 
number of projects in the last year that cater to the demographic of multi-family 
housing rented for greater than $2,000 per month. 
 
Commissioner Brooks expressed concern about drainage from this property and stated 
that he would like the development to be middle level housing.  He asked for more 
details about the differences this proposal has to the proposal that was rejected in 
2019.  Principal Planner Shorkey noted that the Master Plan changes are the main 
difference, and he would have to look deeper to have more specifics. 
 
By voice vote Chair Shrewsbury, Commissioners McConnel and support the project; 
Vice-chair Snyder and Commissioner Blumer oppose the project; Commissioner Brooks 
undecided. 
 

8. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
 



Page 5 

A. SUP #24007 – Lilliac LLC (5681 Shaw) 
 
Principal Planner Shorkey gave an overview of the process that has occurred regarding this 
permit to date and stated that this would be approval of the permit and it would not go 
before the Township Board. 
 
Commissioner McConnell moved to adopt the attached resolution approving Special 
Use Permit #24007, a request to reconstruct and existing building at 5681 Shaw 
Street into a four-unit residential building. Supported by Commissioner Scales. 
Motion passed unanimously. 
 

B. SUP #24008 – Radmoor Montessori (2745 Mt. Hope) 
 
Principal Planner Shorkey gave an overview of the process that has occurred regarding this 
permit to date and stated that this will proceed to site plan approval. 
 
Commissioner Scales moved to adopt the attached resolution approving Special Use 
Permit #24008, a request to expand the parking lot to add 12 spaces at 2745 Mt Hope 
Road, known as the Montessori Radmoor School.  Supported by Vice-chair Snyder. 
Motion passed unanimously. 
 

C. SUP #24009 – SANDDS (3520 Okemos Road) 
 
Principal Planner Shorkey gave an overview of the process that has occurred regarding this 
permit to date and confirmed that the Commission’s recommendation will go before the 
Township Board. 
 
Commissioner Scales moved to adopt the attached resolution recommending 
approval of Special Use Permit #24009, a request to establish an adult use recreation 
marijuana retailer in an existing commercial center located at 3520 Okemos Rd.  
Supported by Commissioner Blumer. Motion passed unanimously. 

 
9. OTHER BUSINESS 

 
A. Zoning Board of Appeals Appointment 

 
Principal Planner Shorkey outlined the need for a Planning Commissioner to sit on the 
Zoning Board of Appeals and gave information about the topics reviewed by the Zoning 
Board of Appeals. 
 
Commissioner Brooks indicated his interest in being the appointee. Commissioners 
unanimously appointed Commissioner Brooks to the Zoning Board of Appeals 

 
10. REPORTS AND ANNOUNCEMENTS 

 
A. Township Board Update 

 
Principal Planner Shorkey said that there was no report. 
 

B. Liaison Reports 
 



Page 6 

Commissioner McConnell updated the Commission about the applications for Climate 
Sustainability that the Environmental Commission has reviewed. 

 
Commissioner Scales reminded the community that the EDC has planned a Juneteenth 
Festival at Lake Lansing South Park. 
 

11. PROJECT UPDATES 
 

A. Project Report 
 

Principal Planner Shorkey briefed the Commission on changes to the project report, 
highlighted in bold text, and new applications. 
 

12. PUBLIC REMARKS 
 
Chair Shrewsbury opened public remarks at 8:42 
 
Chair Shrewsbury closed public remarks at 8:42 

 
13. COMMISSIONER COMMENTS 
 

Commissioner McConnell complemented the layout of the project report and asked to see an 
aerial map view of the projects at a future meeting. Commissioner McConnell asked if a column 
could be added that will indicate the price-point of rental units on the project report. 
 
Commissioner Brooks asked for an outline of how public hearings should be conducted. Chair 
Shrewsbury concurred and added detail as to what would help the Commission conduct them 
smoothly. 
 

14. ADJOURNMENT 
 
Chair Shrewsbury called for a motion to adjourn the meeting at 8:48 pm 
 
Commissioner Blumer moved to adjourn the June 10, 2024 regular meeting of the 
Planning Commission. Seconded by Commissioner Scales. Motion passed unanimously. 
 

 
 



You don't often get email from giacunningham99@gmail.com. Learn why this is important

From: Tim Schmitt
To: Brian Shorkey
Subject: FW: Rezoning fedewa holdings
Date: Tuesday, June 11, 2024 8:14:30 AM

 
 
 
Timothy R. Schmitt, AICP
Interim Township Manager///Director of Community Planning and Development
schmitt@meridian.mi.us
W 517.853.4506
5151 Marsh Road | Okemos, MI 48864
meridian.mi.us
 

From: Gia McIntosh <giacunningham99@gmail.com> 
Sent: Monday, June 10, 2024 8:05 PM
To: Tim Schmitt <schmitt@meridian.mi.us>
Subject: Rezoning fedewa holdings
 

It was said in the meeting that the woods where the apartments would be built is filled with
dead trees and garbage. I wanted to share a picture of my back yard which would directly be
effected by the build. It is beautiful and filled with wildlife and zero garbage. If there is
garbage it is brought from the church near their building 

mailto:giacunningham99@gmail.com
https://aka.ms/LearnAboutSenderIdentification
mailto:schmitt@meridian.mi.us
mailto:shorkey@meridian.mi.us
file:////c/schmitt@meridian.mi.us
http://www.meridian.mi.us/


 

 

To:  Planning Commission  
 
From:  Brian Shorkey, Principal Planner 
 
Date:  June 24, 2024 
 
Re: Rezoning #24015 (Copper Creek), rezone approximately 4.28 acres located on 

Dobie Road from RAA (Single Family-Low Density) to RC (Multiple Family). 
 
 
Mayberry Homes (Applicant) has requested the rezoning of approximately 139 acres located on 
Haslett Road, adjacent to the east of the existing Copper Creek development (Subject Property), from 
RR (Rural Residential) to RA (Single-family Residential). Most of the Subject Property is the 
undeveloped section of the next phase of Copper Creek. However, the Subject Property also includes 
a roughly one acre piece at 350 Haslett Road. The survey of the site, included with the application 
materials, shows the RR area proposed to be rezoned. 
 

 



 
Rezoning #24015 (Copper Creek 5) 
Planning Commission (June 24, 2024) 
Page 2 

 
  

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 
 

 

Future Land Use 
The Future Land Use Map from the 
2023 Master Plan designates the 
Subject Property as Suburban 
Residential. This designation aligns 
with the requested RA zoning and 
is the same as the designations to 
the west and north. The properties 
adjacent to the south are 
designated as Rural Residential. 
The property to the east is in 
Williamston Township and is 
designated as Open Space in their 
Future Land Use map.  
 
Zoning 
The property is currently zoned RR 
(Rural Residential), which requires 
a minimum of 200 feet of lot width 
and 40,000 square feet of lot area. 
The requested RA zoning district 
requires a minimum of 80 feet of lot width, 10,000 square feet of lot area. The property to the north 
and west is similarly zoned RA. The properties to the south are zoned the existing RR zone. Property 
to the east are in Williamston Township. 
 
Physical Features 
The northern third of the Subject 
Property is crossed by the Jefferies 
Drain. The drain generally crosses 
the southern edge of extensive 
wetlands on the northern third of 
the Subject Property. Wetland also 
covers the southeast corner of the 
Subject Property. The concept plan 
submitted with the application 
acknowledges the wetlands and 
shows 40-foot buffers around them 
and labels the wetlands as parks.  
 
The wetlands take up 
approximately 68 acres of the 
Subject Property and are shown on 
the Township’s Greenspace Plan as 
Priority Conservation Corridors 
(PCC). PCCs are recognized as part 
of a network of ecologically 

 

2023 FUTURE LAND USE MAP 

 

ZONING MAP 
 



 
Rezoning #24015 (Copper Creek 5) 
Planning Commission (June 24, 2024) 
Page 3 

 
  

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 
 

 

significant open spaces that link wildlife habitat, protect water quality, and preserve the natural 
character of the Township. 
 
The remainder of the Subject Property is developable open space, except for the one acre parcel on 
Haslett Road, which contains a single family residence.  
 
Streets & Traffic 
The site fronts on its southern boundary on Haslett Road, which is a two-lane road without curb and 
gutter classified as a Minor Arterial Street on the Street Setbacks and Service Drives Map in the 
zoning ordinance.  
 
The applicant submitted a traffic study prepared by Fleis & Vandenbrink, Inc. dated April 2024. 
According to the study, site access is proposed via the continuation of the existing Copper Creek 
development.  
 
The study used data from the Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE) Trip Generation Manual, 
11th edition to estimate trip generation rates for Single Family-Detached Housing under the existing 
RR zoning and the requested RA zoning. The study estimated that 83 units are currently available 
under the RR zoning while the requested RA zoning would yield 307 units. The following table 
summarizes findings from the submitted traffic assessment. 
 

Land Use Size AM Peak Hour PM Peak Hour Weekday In Out Total In Out Total 

Existing Zoning (RR) 83 
Units 16 47 63 52 31 83 850 

Proposed Zoning 
(RA) 

307 
units 52 155 207 180 105 285 2,832 

Difference +36 +108 +144 +128 +74 +202 +1,982 
 
A traffic impact study is required for rezonings when the proposed district would permit uses that 
could generate more than 249 additional directional trips during the peak hour than the principal 
uses permitted under the current zoning, or if directional trips are expected to increase by at least 
750 during the day. Based on the study, development of the Subject Property will require a traffic 
impact study, which will be required to be approved by the Ingham County Road Department prior 
to site plan approval. 
 
Utilities 
The Subject Property is inside of the Urban Service Boundary and municipal water and sanitary 
sewer are available. The location and capacity of utilities for any proposed development will be 
reviewed in detail by the Department of Public Works and Engineering at the time of a development 
submittal. 
 
Staff Analysis 
The applicant has requested the rezoning of approximately 139 acres from RR to RA. When evaluating 
a rezoning request, the Planning Commission should consider all uses permitted by right and by 
special use permit in the current and proposed zoning districts, as well as the reasons for rezoning 



 
Rezoning #24015 (Copper Creek 5) 
Planning Commission (June 24, 2024) 
Page 4 

 
  

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 
 

 

listed on page two of the rezoning application (attached). Based on that, Staff has the following 
comments: 
 

1. The Future Land Use map for the Subject Property was updated during the 2023 Master Plan 
update to support the requested RA zoning. This was done at the request of the applicant and 
had no opposition from the Township Planning Commission or Board of Trustees.  

2. The proposed development will continue the existing Copper Creek development and mirror 
it in terms of aesthetics and density. As such, the requested zoning is compatible with the 
surrounding area. 

3. Significant environmental challenges face development of the Subject Property. The concept 
plan submitted demonstrates that the Applicant is aware of those challenges. Before 
development can occur on the Subject Property, a site plan will have to be approved by the 
Ingham County Drain Commission and the Township Engineering Department. 

4. The proposed rezoning may have adverse effects on surrounding traffic, as demonstrated by 
the traffic study. A full traffic impact study will be required to be approved by the Ingham 
County Road Department before a site plan approval can be granted. The Applicant will be 
required to construct any required road improvements in order to mitigate the increased 
traffic. 

 
Planning Commission Options 
The Planning Commission may recommend approval or denial of the request, or it may recommend a 
different zoning designation than proposed by the applicant to the Township Board.  A resolution will 
be provided at a future meeting. 
 
Attachments 
1. Rezoning application dated March 25, 2024 and received by the Township on May 19, 2024. 
2. Traffic assessment prepared by Fleis & Vandenbrink, Inc., dated April 2024 and received by the 

Township on May 19, 2024. 
3. Property survey prepared by Kebs, Inc., received by the Township on May 19, 2024. 
4. Rezoning criteria. 

















 

 
Page 2 

Part II        REASONS FOR REZONING REQUEST 
 
Respond only to the items which you intend to support with proof.  Explain your position on the lines 
below, and attach supporting information to this form. 

 
A. Reasons why the present zoning is unreasonable: 

 
1)    There is an error in the boundaries of the Zoning Map, specifically: ______________________ 

____________________________________________________________________________         
 

2)    The conditions of the surrounding area have changed in the following respects: ____________ 
____________________________________________________________________________ 

         
3)  The current zoning is inconsistent with the Township’s Master Plan, explain: 

____________________________________________________________________________  
         
4)    The Township did not follow the procedures that are required by Michigan laws, when adopting 

the Zoning Ordinance, specifically: ________________________________________________ 
        ___________________________________________________________________________ 

       
5)    The Township did not have a reasonable basis to support the current zoning classification at 

the time it was adopted; and the zoning has exempted the following legitimate uses from the 
area: _______________________________________________________________________ 
____________________________________________________________________________ 

 
6)  The current zoning restrictions on the use of the property do not further the health safety or 

general welfare of the public, explain: ______________________________________________ 
____________________________________________________________________________ 
 

B. Reasons why the requested zoning is appropriate: 
 

1)  Requested rezoning is consistent with the Township’s Master Plan, explain: 
____________________________________________________________________________ 

 
2)  Requested rezoning is compatible with other existing and proposed uses surrounding the site, 

specifically:___________________________________________________________________  
   

3)  Requested rezoning would not result in significant adverse impacts on the natural environment, 
explain: _____________________________________________________________________ 

 
4)  Requested rezoning would not result in significant adverse impacts on traffic circulation, water 

and sewer systems, education, recreation or other public services, 
explain:______________________________________________________________________ 

 
5)  Requested rezoning addresses a proven community need, specifically: ___________________ 

____________________________________________________________________________ 
 

6)  Requested rezoning results in logical and orderly development in the Township, explain: 
____________________________________________________________________________ 

 
7)  Requested rezoning will result in better use of Township land, resources and properties and 

therefore more efficient expenditure of Township funds for public improvements and services, 
explain: _____________________________________________________________________ 



 

 

 

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 
 

To:  Planning Commission  
 
From:  Brian Shorkey, Principal Planner 
 
Date:  June 24, 2024 
 
Re: Special Use Permit #24017 (Herbana), to construct an adult use marijuana 

provisioning center at 2119A Haslett Road, Haslett, MI  48840.  
 
 
Haslett Holdings Inc. (Applicant) has submitted a Special Use Permit (SUP) application for the 
construction of a 4,000 square foot adult use marijuana retailer at 2119A Haslett Road, Haslett, MI  
48840 (Subject Property). The Subject Property is approximately 1.92 acres in size and is zoned C-
1 – Commercial. Other tenants in the commercial center include Custom Quilts & Sewing Center, 
Encore Salon, Vivian Nails & Spa, and the Refresh IV Bar. This SUP application follows the Board of 
Trustees’ approval of the adult use marijuana conditional license on April 16, 2024 and is similar to a 
medical marijuana SUP application on the same site that was approved by the Township in 2023. 
 
Zoning and Future Land Use 
The Subject Property is located in 
the C-1 – Commercial zoning 
district. The same zoning 
designation applies to the adjacent 
properties and the west, east, and 
south. The property to the north is 
zoned PO – Professional Office. The 
property to the east of the 
commercial strip center is zoned 
RR – Rural Residential. The C-1 
district requires a minimum of 50 
feet of lot frontage and 4,000 
square feet of lot area.  The parcel 
is approximately 0.6 acres in size 
(25,867 square feet) and has 
approximately 115 feet of frontage 
along Haslett Road. 
  

ZONING MAP 



Special Use Permit #24017 (Herbana) 
Planning Commission (June 24, 2024) 
Page 2 

 
  

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 
 

 

The Future Land Use Map from the 
2023 Master Plan designates the subject 
site in the Commercial category. This is 
likewise true for all adjacent properties. 
 
Staff Analysis 
Applications for special land use permits 
are reviewed under Sec. 86-126 in the 
Zoning Ordinance. Based on that review, 
Staff has the following comments: 
 

1. The Subject Property lies within 
Adult Use Marijuana Overlay 
Area 1. This has been approved 
of one of only five areas in the 
Township where adult use 
marijuana retailers are allowed. 
An adult use retail permit has 
been approved for the site.  

2. The project is consistent with 
the intent and purposes of this 
chapter and the proposed adult 
use marijuana retailer conforms 
with the Subject Property’s zoning and Future Land Use designations. 

3. The project is consistent with applicable land use policies contained in the Township’s 
comprehensive development plan of current adoption. 

4. The project is designed, constructed, operated, and maintained so as to be harmonious and 
appropriate in appearance with the existing or intended character of the general vicinity and 
that such a use will not change the essential character of the same area.  

5. The project will not adversely affect or be hazardous to existing neighboring uses. 

6. The project will not be detrimental to the economic welfare of the surrounding properties 
or the community. 

7. The project is adequately served by public facilities, such as existing roads, schools, 
stormwater drainage, public safety, public transportation, and public recreation, or that the 
persons or agencies responsible for the establishment of the proposed use shall be able to 
provide any such service. 

8. The project is adequately served by public sanitation facilities if so designed. If on-site 
sanitation facilities for sewage disposal, potable water supply, and stormwater are 
proposed, they shall be properly designed and capable of handling the long term needs of 
the proposed project. 

 
FUTURE LAND USE MAP 

 



Special Use Permit #24017 (Herbana) 
Planning Commission (June 24, 2024) 
Page 3 

 
  

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 
 

 

9. The project will not involve uses, activities, processes, materials, and equipment and 
conditions of operation that will be detrimental to any persons, property, or the general 
welfare by reason of excessive production of traffic, noise, smoke, fumes, glare, or odors. 

10. The project is not expected to directly or indirectly have a substantial adverse impact on the 
natural resources of the Township, including, but not limited to, prime agricultural soils, 
water recharge areas, lakes, rivers, streams, major forests, wetlands, and wildlife areas. 

11. The material attached to the medical marijuana application, approved on January 23, 2023, 
detailed the safety and odor control that was being proposed by the Applicant. The safety 
and odor control systems meet the Township’s requirements. 

12. The Subject Property is adequately served by water and sewer. An attached traffic 
assessment verifies that the existing roads are capable of handling the traffic and no traffic 
study is required.  

13. A sign plan was submitted as required by Sec. 40-30. The proposed signage meets the 
requirements of the Township sign ordinance. 

 
Based on the information provided by the Applicant, Staff has identified no major concerns that would 
negatively impact surrounding properties or the Township at large while reviewing the proposed 
Special Use Permit. If the project is approved by the Planning Commission and the Township Board, 
the applicant will be required to submit for Site Plan Review and/or any required building permits prior 
to beginning operations. 
 
Recreational Marihuana Approval Process 
Applicants for a Recreational Marihuana Facility must go through various steps in order to establish a 
facility within Meridian Township, including securing local and state approval. Applications are 
submitted to the Director of Community Planning and Development for review. All inspections, 
review, processing, and competitive review, if necessary, shall be completed within 90 days of a 
complete application. A completed application is forwarded to the Township Board, who must 
approve or deny the application within 120 days of a completed application and fees. If the application 
is approved, then the Applicant shall receive a conditional approval, the conditions of which must be 
met for the Applicant to receive a Permit as the Permit Holder. If the Township Board issues 
conditional approval, then the Applicant must submit their SUP application to the Planning 
Commission within 60 days. Recreational Marihuana permits are reviewed for renewal or 
amendment, but the SUP does not require annual renewal. If the applicant maintains a valid State 
license and remains in good standing with both the State and Township a renewal will be granted for 
another one year period.   
 
Planning Commission Options 
The Planning Commission may recommend approval, approval with conditions, or denial of the 
proposed special use permit. A resolution will be provided at a future meeting. 
 
Attachments 
1. Special use permit application 
2. Attachment A: Site plan prepared by LSG Engineers and Surveyors. dated January 3, 2018 and 

received by the Township on May 23, 2024. 



Special Use Permit #24017 (Herbana) 
Planning Commission (June 24, 2024) 
Page 4 

 
  

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 
 

 

3. Attachment B: Employment and Hours of Operation 
4. Attachment C: Lease Agreement 
5. Attachment D: Sign Plan and Floor Plan, prepared by the Peabody Group and received by the 

Township on May 23, 2024. 
6. Attachment E: Traffic Assessment prepared by Traffic Engineering Associates, Inc., dated 

November 19, 2019 and received by the Township on May 23, 2024.   
7. Attachment F: Natural Features Assessment 
8. Attachment G: SUP Request Standards writeup 
 

 



Page 1 

CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN 
DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT 

5151 MARSH ROAD, OKEMOS, MI  48864 
PLANNING DIVISION PHONE: (517) 853-4560,  FAX: (517) 853-4095 

SPECIAL USE PERMIT APPLICATION 

Before submitting this application for review, an applicant may meet with the Director of Community 
Planning and Development to discuss the requirements for a special use permit and/or submit a 
conceptual plan for review to have preliminary technical deficiencies addressed prior to submittal of the 
application.  If the property or land use is located in the following zoning districts RD, RC, RCC, RN then 
the applicant must meet with the Planning Director to discuss technical difficulties before filing a formal 
application.  

Part I 
A. Applicant ____________________________________________________________________________

Address of Applicant ___________________________________________________________________ 
Telephone - Work  ______________  Home ______________ Fax  ______________ Email __________ 
Interest in property (circle one): Owner  Tenant  Option Other 
(Please attach a list of all persons with an ownership interest in the property.) 

B. Site address / location / parcel number ____________________________________________________
Legal description (please attach if necessary) _______________________________________________ 
Current zoning _______________________________________________________________________
Use for which permit is requested / project name ____________________________________________ 
Corresponding ordinance number ________________________________________________________ 

C. Developer (if different than applicant) _____________________________________________________
Address ____________________________________________________________________________ 
Telephone – Work ____________________ Home __________________ Fax ____________________ 

D. Architect, Engineer Planner or Surveyor responsible for design of project if different from applicant:
Name ______________________________________________________________________________ 
Address ____________________________________________________________________________ 
Telephone – Work ___________________ Home ____________________Fax  ___________________

E. Acreage of all parcels in the project: Gross _____ Net _____

F. Explain the project and development phases:

G. Total number of: 
Existing: structures_____  bedrooms____  offices____  parking spaces____  carports ___ garages_____ 
Proposed: structures____ bedrooms____  offices____  parking spaces____  carports ___ garages_____

H. Square footage: existing buildings____ proposed buildings____ 
Usable Floor area: existing buildings____ proposed buildings____ 

I. If employees will work on the site, state the number of full time and part time employees working per shift
and hours of operation: 

J. Existing Recreation: Type _____________________________________ Acreage _________ 
Proposed Recreation: Type _____________________________________ Acreage _________ 
Existing Open Space: Type _____________________________________ Acreage _________ 
Proposed Open Space: Type _____________________________________ Acreage _________ 

Haslett Gallery Inc.
334 E. Washington Ann Arbor, MI 48104

734.474.5881 james@arborholdings.com

2119A Haslett Rd.  Haslett, MI 48840

C-1 Commercial
Medical Marhuana Provisioning Center

Charter Township Of Meridian, Code of Ordiances, Chapter 40

LSG Engineers & Surveyors, INC.
3135 Pine Tree Road, Suite D, Lansing MI 48911

517.393.2902 517.393.2608

1.92 1.92

0 7 87 0 0 Type text here
0 0 0 0 0

1
The answers to G and H encompass the entire building and site

0

16,617 0
N/A

N/A 0
N/A 0
Green Area .36
N/A 0

N/A

Please see Attached Site Plan - Attachment A

16,617

 This project encompasses doing a slight renovation on a current 
1,510 sq ft suite located  in the 16,617 sq ft building in order to open a licensed medical marihuana provisioning center. 

Please see Attached Employment chart - Attachment B

Benjamin Joffe
Highlight

Benjamin Joffe
Highlight



 

Page 2 

 
K. If Multiple Housing: 
 Total acres of property  ______________ 
 Acres in floodplain __________________ Percent of total _____                                            
 Acres in wetland (not in floodplain) _____ Percent of total _____                           
 Total dwelling units _________________  
 Dwelling unit mix: Number of single family detached:  for Rent _____ Condo _____ 
    Number of duplexes:    for Rent _____ Condo _____ 
    Number of townhouses:   for Rent _____ Condo _____ 
    Number of garden style apartments:  for Rent _____ Condo _____ 
    Number of other dwellings:   for Rent _____ Condo _____ 
 
L. The following support materials must be submitted with the application: 
 

 1. Nonrefundable Fee.  
 

 2. Legal Description of the property.  
 

 3. Evidence of fee or other ownership of the property.  
 

 4. Site Plan containing the information listed in the attachment to this application.  
 

 5. Architectural sketches showing all sides and elevations of the proposed buildings or structures, 
including the project entrance, as they will appear upon completion.  The sketches should be 
accompanied by material samples or a display board of the proposed exterior materials and 
colors.   

 

 6. A Traffic Study, prepared by a qualified traffic engineer, based on the most current edition of 
Evaluating Traffic Impact Studies: A Recommended Practice for Michigan Communities, 
published by the State Department of Transportation.  

   

a. A traffic assessment will be required for the following: 
   1)   New special uses which could, or expansion or change of an existing special use 

where increase in intensity would, generate between 50 to 99 directional trips 
during a peak hour of traffic. 

   2)  All other special uses requiring a traffic assessment as specified in the Township 
Code of Ordinances, Chapter 86, Article IV, Division 2. 

   

b. A traffic impact study will be required for the following: 
   1) New special uses which would, or expansion or change of an existing special use 

where increase in intensity would, generate over 100 directional trips or more 
during a peak hour of traffic, or over 750 trips on an average day. 

   2)  All other special uses requiring a traffic assessment as specified in the Township 
Code of Ordinances, Chapter 86, Article IV, Division 2. 

 

 7. Natural features assessment which includes a written description of the anticipated impacts on the 
natural features at each phase and at project completion that contains the following: 

 

  a. An inventory of natural features proposed to be retained, removed, or modified.  Natural 
features shall include, but are not limited to, wetlands, significant stands of trees or 
individual trees greater than 12 inches dbh, floodways, floodplains, waterbodies, identified 
groundwater vulnerable areas, slopes greater than 20 percent, ravines, and vegetative 
cover types with potential to sustain significant or endangered wildlife. 

 

  b. Description of the impacts on natural features. 
 

  c. Description of any proposed efforts to mitigate any negative impacts. 
 

The natural features assessment may be waived by the Director of Community Planning and 
Development in certain circumstances. 

   

N/A

See Attachment A

See Attachment A

See Attachment C

See Attachment D

See Attachment E

See Attachment F

Benjamin Joffe
Highlight

Benjamin Joffe
Highlight

Benjamin Joffe
Highlight

Benjamin Joffe
Highlight

Benjamin Joffe
Highlight

Benjamin Joffe
Highlight



Page 3 

M. Any other information specified by the Director of Community Planning and Development which is
deemed necessary to evaluate the application.

N. In addition to the above requirements, for zoning districts, RD, RC, RCC, RN, and CV and Group
Housing Residential Developments the following is required:

1. Existing and proposed contours of the property at two foot intervals based on United States
Geological Survey (USGS) data.

2. Preliminary engineering reports in accordance with the adopted Township water and sewer
standards, together with a letter of review from the Township Engineer.

3. Ten copies of a report on the intent and scope of the project including, but not limited to: Number,
size, volume, and dimensions of buildings; number and size of living units; basis of calculations of
floor area and density and required parking; number, size, and type of parking spaces;
architectural sketches of proposed buildings.

4. Seven copies of the project plans which the Township shall submit to local agencies for review
and comments.

O. In addition to the above requirements, a special use application in zoning district RP requires the following
material as part of the site plan:

1. A description of the operations proposed in sufficient detail to indicate the effects of those
operations in producing traffic congestion, noise, glare, air pollution, water pollution, fire hazards
or safety hazards or the emission of any potentially harmful or obnoxious matter or radiation.

2. Engineering and architectural plans for the treatment and disposal of sewerage and industrial
waste tailings, or unusable by-products.

3. Engineering and architectural plans for the handling of any excessive traffic congestion, noise,
glare, air pollution, or the emission of any potentially harmful or obnoxious matter or radiation.

P. In addition to the above requirements, a special use application for a use in the Floodway Fringe of
zoning district CV requires the following:

1. A letter of approval from the State Department of Environmental Quality.
2. A location map including existing topographic data at two-foot interval contours at a scale of one

inch representing 100 feet.
3. A map showing proposed grading and drainage plans including the location of all public drainage

easements, the limits, extent, and elevations of the proposed fill, excavation, and occupation.
4. A statement from the County Drain Commissioner, County Health Department, and Director of

Public Works and Engineering indicating that they have reviewed and approved the proposal.

Q. In addition to the above requirements, a special use application for a use in the Groundwater Recharge
area or zoning district CV requires the following:

1. A location map including existing topographic data at two-foot interval contours.
2. A map showing proposed grading and drainage plans including the location of all public drainage

easements, the limits and extent of the proposed fill, excavation, and occupation.
3. A statement from the County Drain Commissioner, County Health Department, and Director of

Public Works and Engineering indicating that they have reviewed and approved the proposal.

R. In addition to the above requirements, the Township Code of Ordinances, Article VI, should be reviewed
for the following special uses: group housing residential developments, mobile home parks,
nonresidential structures and uses in residential districts, planned community and regional shopping
center developments, sand or gravel pits and quarries, sod farms, junk yards, sewage treatment and
disposal installations, camps and clubs for outdoor sports and buildings greater than 25,000 square feet
in gross floor area.



Page 4 

Part II SUP REQUEST STANDARDS 
Township Code of Ordinances, Section 86-126 

Applications for Special Land Uses will be reviewed with the standards stated below.  An application that 
complies with the standards stated in the Township Ordinance, conditions imposed pursuant to the 
Ordinance, other applicable Ordinances, and State and Federal statutes will be approved. Your 
responses to the questions below will assist the Planning Commission in its review of your application.   

(1) The project is consistent with the intent and purposes of this chapter.

(2) The project is consistent with applicable land use policies contained in the Township's Master Plan of
current adoption.

(3) The project is designed, constructed, operated, and maintained so as to be harmonious and
appropriate in appearance with the existing or intended character of the general vicinity and that such a
use will not change the essential character of the same area.

(4) The project will not adversely affect or be hazardous to existing neighboring uses.

(5) The project will not be detrimental to the economic welfare of surrounding properties or the community.

(6) The project is adequately served by public facilities, such as existing roads, schools, stormwater
drainage, public safety, public transportation, and public recreation, or that the persons or agencies
responsible for the establishment of the proposed use shall be able to provide any such service.

(7) The project is adequately served by public sanitation facilities if so designed. If on-site sanitation
facilities for sewage disposal, potable water supply, and storm water are proposed, they shall be
properly designed and capable of handling the longterm needs of the proposed project.

(8) The project will not involve uses, activities, processes, materials, and equipment and conditions of
operation that will be detrimental to any persons, property, or the general welfare by reason of
excessive production of traffic, noise, smoke, fumes, glare, or odors.

(9) The project will not directly or indirectly have a substantial adverse impact on the natural resources of
the Township, including, but not limited to, prime agricultural soils, water recharge areas, lakes, rivers,
streams, major forests, wetlands, and wildlife areas.

Part III 
I (we) hereby grant permission for members of the Charter Township of Meridian’s Boards and/or Commissions, 
Township staff member(s) and the Township’s representatives or experts the right to enter onto the above 
described property (or as described in the attached information) in my (our) absence for the purpose of gathering 
information including but not limited to the taking and the use of photographs.  

 Yes  No (Please check one) 

By the signature(s) attached hereto, I (we) certify that the information provided within this application and 
accompanying documentation is, to the best of my (our) knowledge, true and accurate 

__________________________________________________ ________________ 
Signature of Applicant  Date  

__________________________________________________ 
Type/Print Name 

Fee: __________________ Received by/Date: _____________________________ 

PLEASE see Attachment G
PLEASE see Attachment G

James Daly

5/23/24

Benjamin Joffe
Highlight

Benjamin Joffe
Highlight



 

Page 5 

Special Use Permit Application Attachment 
Site Plan Requirements Per Section 86-124(c)(4) 

 
 
A site plan, drawn to a legible scale, containing the following information where applicable: 
 
a. Boundaries of the subject property. 
 
b. Total area of the subject property. 
 
c. Location of all existing and proposed structures. 
 
d. Approximate location and distance of all structures within 100 feet of the subject property. 
 
e. Uses of existing and proposed buildings, on the subject site. 
 
f. Proposed means of vehicular and pedestrian ingress and egress to the subject property. 
 
g. Public and private roads and streets, rights-of-way, and easements, indicating names and widths, which 

abut or cross the site. 
 
h. Existing and proposed parking spaces, and vehicular and pedestrian circulation patterns. 
 
i. The buildable area of the subject property indicating all required setbacks, yards and open space. 
 
j. Zoning classification of the subject and adjacent properties. 
 
k. Existing and proposed fencing, screening, landscaping, and buffers. 
 
l. Location and sizes of existing utilities including power lines and towers, both above and below the ground. 
 
m. Amount and location of all impervious surfaces. 
 
n. The verified boundaries of all natural water features and required setback lines. 
 

Please see Attachment A

Benjamin Joffe
Highlight



Attachment  A



Engineers

& Surveyors

SG

Know what's below.
before you dig.Call

R

AutoCAD SHX Text
HH

AutoCAD SHX Text
HH

AutoCAD SHX Text
HH

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' EASEMENT TO MERIDIAN TOWNSHIP L. 2907 P. 909

AutoCAD SHX Text
16.5' MICHIGAN BELL TELEPHONE EASEMENT L. 1489 P. 11641489 P. 1164

AutoCAD SHX Text
1 OF 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
8/11/2017

AutoCAD SHX Text
SUP.dwg

AutoCAD SHX Text
DKR

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROJECT NO.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHEET NO.

AutoCAD SHX Text
VERT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
2003

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHECKED BY

AutoCAD SHX Text
HOR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
1"=30'

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWN BY

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIELD WORK

AutoCAD SHX Text
FILE

AutoCAD SHX Text
WSF

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
MERIDIAN PLAZA

AutoCAD SHX Text
SUP SITE PLAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
OF

AutoCAD SHX Text
PREPARED FOR:

AutoCAD SHX Text
MERIDIAN TOWNSHIP, INGHAM COUNTY, MI

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DESCRIPTION

AutoCAD SHX Text
REVISIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text
SITE LOCATION MAP

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOT TO SCALE

AutoCAD SHX Text
GENERAL NOTES:

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
CO

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
V

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
= TELEPHONE MANHOLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
= ELECTRIC PEDESTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
= GAS VALVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
U.P.

AutoCAD SHX Text
= SIGN

AutoCAD SHX Text
= WALL HYDRANT

AutoCAD SHX Text
= POST INDICATOR VALVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
= YARDBASIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
= CURB AND GUTTER

AutoCAD SHX Text
= DISTANCE NOT TO SCALE

AutoCAD SHX Text
= SECTION CORNER

AutoCAD SHX Text
= FOUND IRON AS NOTED

AutoCAD SHX Text
= SET IRON & CAP #31603

AutoCAD SHX Text
= TREE LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
= CONIFEROUS TREE

AutoCAD SHX Text
= DECIDUOUS TREE

AutoCAD SHX Text
= FENCE LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
= GAS LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
= GAS METER

AutoCAD SHX Text
= MONITORING WELL

AutoCAD SHX Text
= FIRE HYDRANT

AutoCAD SHX Text
= WATER VALVE 

AutoCAD SHX Text
= WATER LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
= WATER MANHOLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
= LIGHT POLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
= ELECTRIC METER

AutoCAD SHX Text
= TELEPHONE PEDESTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
= TRANSFORMER

AutoCAD SHX Text
= UNDERGROUND UTILITY LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
= OVERHEAD UTILITY LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
= UTILITY POLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
= ELECTRIC MANHOLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
= SANITARY LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
= SANITARY CLEANOUT

AutoCAD SHX Text
= SANITARY MANHOLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
= STORM LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
= CATCHBASIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
= STORM MANHOLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEGEND:

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
= ROOF DRAIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
= AC-UNIT

AutoCAD SHX Text
AC

AutoCAD SHX Text
1) A current Title Commitment and Schedule B Section II Supportive Documentation has not been furnished. The affect of easements upon this parcel, other than indicated, are unknown. 2) Base drawing information obtained from LSG Project No. 00.1236. dated January 22, 2003.  3) The location of certain improvements, including sidewalks along Haslett Road and Okemos Road and general revisions are the result of Google Earth aerial imagery and field observations. 4) Per internet search, there are no public or private K-12 schools within 1,000 feet or any known churches, places of worship or other religious facilities, libraries, preschools, or licensed childcare centers within 500 feet of the subject property.

AutoCAD SHX Text
= MONUMENT SIGN

AutoCAD SHX Text
= MAIL BOX

AutoCAD SHX Text
= SATELLITE DISH

AutoCAD SHX Text
FILE: L:\2003 (SOUTH MERIDIAN PLAZA, HASLETT)\S\2019 SUP SITE PLAN\SUP.DWG - PLOT DATE: 11/15/2019 8:49 AM BY: Joseph Levi SCALE: 1:1                 L:\2003 (SOUTH MERIDIAN PLAZA, HASLETT)\S\2019 SUP SITE PLAN\SUP.DWG - PLOT DATE: 11/15/2019 8:49 AM BY: Joseph Levi SCALE: 1:1                  - PLOT DATE: 11/15/2019 8:49 AM BY: Joseph Levi SCALE: 1:1                 11/15/2019 8:49 AM BY: Joseph Levi SCALE: 1:1                  BY: Joseph Levi SCALE: 1:1                 Joseph Levi SCALE: 1:1                  SCALE: 1:1                 1:1                 

AutoCAD SHX Text
= ASPHALT

AutoCAD SHX Text
= CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text
= GUY WIRE

AutoCAD SHX Text
= RECORDED

AutoCAD SHX Text
= MEASURED

AutoCAD SHX Text
(R)

AutoCAD SHX Text
(M)

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
3135 PINE TREE ROAD SUITE D LANSING, MI  48911 PH. (517) 393-2902 FAX (517) 393-2608 www.lsg-es.com

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
= WELL

AutoCAD SHX Text
M I S S

AutoCAD SHX Text
D I G

AutoCAD SHX Text
HASLETT ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROAD R.O.W.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 43

AutoCAD SHX Text
OKEMOS ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 42

AutoCAD SHX Text
377'

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 44

AutoCAD SHX Text
ASPHALT PARKING

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 45

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 44

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 45

AutoCAD SHX Text
377.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DUMPSTER

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROAD R.O.W.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
365.11'

AutoCAD SHX Text
209.50

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
2121 HASLETT RD DIRECT POWER SPORTS

AutoCAD SHX Text
2119A HASLETT RD VACANT

AutoCAD SHX Text
2119C HASLETT RD TAEKWONDO

AutoCAD SHX Text
2111A & 2119B HASLETT RD  ANYTIME FITNESS

AutoCAD SHX Text
2111B HASLETT RD ENCORE SALON

AutoCAD SHX Text
2111C HASLETT RD VIVIAN NAILS & SPA

AutoCAD SHX Text
5676 OKEMOS RD CUSTOM QUILTS & SEWING

AutoCAD SHX Text
1-STORY BUILDING 5668 OKEMOS RD RED CEDAR SURGERY CENTER

AutoCAD SHX Text
9 SPACES

AutoCAD SHX Text
4 SPACES

AutoCAD SHX Text
1 SP.

AutoCAD SHX Text
8 SPACES

AutoCAD SHX Text
7 SPACES

AutoCAD SHX Text
4 SPACES

AutoCAD SHX Text
12 SPACES

AutoCAD SHX Text
11 SPACES

AutoCAD SHX Text
14 SPACES

AutoCAD SHX Text
7 SPACES

AutoCAD SHX Text
20 SPACES

AutoCAD SHX Text
7 SPACES

AutoCAD SHX Text
20 SPACES

AutoCAD SHX Text
ASPHALT PARKING

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAKE LANSING

AutoCAD SHX Text
HASLETT

AutoCAD SHX Text
RABY

AutoCAD SHX Text
HASLETT

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK LAKE

AutoCAD SHX Text
Scale 1" = 30'

AutoCAD SHX Text
30

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
30

AutoCAD SHX Text
90

AutoCAD SHX Text
60

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE OF PARCEL SURVEY

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEGAL DESCRIPTION:

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARCEL A (TAX ID 33-02-02-09-427-026) LOT 42 AND LOT 43, EXCEPT THE SOUTH 156 FEET, PLEASANT ACRES, AS RECORDED IN LIBER 13 OF PLATS, PAGE 50, INGHAM COUNTY RECORDS PARCEL B (TAX ID 33-02-02-09-427-027) LOT 44, EXCEPT THE WEST 45 FEET OF THE SOUTH 156' AND EXCEPT THE EAST 70 FEET OF THE SOUTH 129.5 FEET, PLEASANT ACRES, AS RECORDED IN LIBER 13 OF PLATS, PAGE 50, INGHAM COUNTY RECORDS PARCEL C (TAX ID 33-02-02-09-427-028) LOT 45, EXCEPT THE SOUTH 129.5 FEET, PLEASANT ACRES, AS RECORDED IN LIBER 13 OF PLATS, PAGE 50, INGHAM COUNTY RECORDS

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARCEL LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARCEL LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARCEL LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
156.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
29.50'

AutoCAD SHX Text
180.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
147.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
180.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
26.50'

AutoCAD SHX Text
185.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
115.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
70.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
129.50'

AutoCAD SHX Text
235.61'

AutoCAD SHX Text
235.73'

AutoCAD SHX Text
147.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARCEL A 0.71 AC±

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARCEL B 0.59 AC±

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARCEL C 0.62 AC±

AutoCAD SHX Text
1 SP.

AutoCAD SHX Text
3 SPACES

AutoCAD SHX Text
12.3'±

AutoCAD SHX Text
23.5'±

AutoCAD SHX Text
17.9'±

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARCEL LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
1/3/2018

AutoCAD SHX Text
REVISED PARCEL LINES

AutoCAD SHX Text
29.50'

AutoCAD SHX Text
209.50

AutoCAD SHX Text
STORM WATER DETENTION AREA

AutoCAD SHX Text
STORM WATER DETENTION AREA

AutoCAD SHX Text
NORTH MERIDIAN PLAZA, LLC

AutoCAD SHX Text
1/18/2018

AutoCAD SHX Text
ADDED DRIVEWAY EASEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
7/22/2019

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIELD UPDATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
7/29/2019

AutoCAD SHX Text
ADDED SIDEWALKS AT HASLETT & OKEMOS ROADS, PARKING LOT LIGHT POLES AND GENERAL REVISIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text
147.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
115.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
115.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONC. WALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONC. WALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
HVAC AREA

AutoCAD SHX Text
GENERATOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
AREA

AutoCAD SHX Text
CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONC. WALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
DUMPSTER

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONC. WALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONC. WALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
5654 OKEMOS ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
TAX ID 33-02-02-09-427-013

AutoCAD SHX Text
2099 HASLETT ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
TAX ID 33-02-02-09-427-005

AutoCAD SHX Text
No.

AutoCAD SHX Text
31603

AutoCAD SHX Text
DOUGLAS K.

AutoCAD SHX Text
RICHARDSON

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROFESSIONAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
SURVEYOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
V

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
U

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
HASLETT GALLERY, INC.

AutoCAD SHX Text
106 N 4TH AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
ANN ARBOR, MICHIGAN 48104

AutoCAD SHX Text
11/13/2019

AutoCAD SHX Text
SUP SITE PLAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
RCSC DEVELOPMENT COMPANY, LLC (NOT INCLUDED)

AutoCAD SHX Text
1.92 AC / 83,804 SQ. FT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SITE DATA

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOTAL SITE AREA:

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARKING PROVIDED:

AutoCAD SHX Text
REGULAR SPACES:            83 SPACES

AutoCAD SHX Text
ADA SPACES:            4 SPACES

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOTAL PROVIDED:            87 SPACES

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%USETBACKS

AutoCAD SHX Text
:    FRONT:   100'

AutoCAD SHX Text
REAR:    50' WHERE ADJACENT TO RESIDENTIAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
SIDE:    50' WHERE ADJACENT TO RESIDENTIAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%UOPEN SPACE

AutoCAD SHX Text
:             15,330 SQ FT. / 0.36 AC

AutoCAD SHX Text
IMPERVIOUS AREA:             67,954 SQ. FT. / 1.56 ACRES

AutoCAD SHX Text
ZONING CLASSIFICATION:             C-1 

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' DRAINAGE ESMT L 1043 P 1260

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' MICHIGAN BELL TELEPHONE EASEMENT L. 1398 P. 4331398 P. 433

AutoCAD SHX Text
15' DRAINAGE ESMT L 1043 P 1262

AutoCAD SHX Text
WATERMAIN EASEMENT TO MERIDIAN TOWNSHIP

AutoCAD SHX Text
10 FOOT PUBLIC PATHWAY EASEMENT L. 2907 P. 909

AutoCAD SHX Text
15' DRAINAGE ESMT L 1043 P 1256

AutoCAD SHX Text
16.5' MICHIGAN BELL TELEPHONE EASEMENT L. 1489 P. 11631489 P. 1163

AutoCAD SHX Text
1-STORY RESIDENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
12"

AutoCAD SHX Text
12"

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRIVEWAY EASEMENT (1/15/2018)

AutoCAD SHX Text
6"

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONC. WALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONC. WALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONC. WALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONC. WALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONC. WALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONC. WALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONC. WALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONC. WALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARCEL LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
12"

AutoCAD SHX Text
45.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
12"

AutoCAD SHX Text
6"

AutoCAD SHX Text
6"

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRIVEWAY EASEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
12"

AutoCAD SHX Text
(66' PUBLIC R.O.W.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
(100' PUBLIC R.O.W.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
24"

AutoCAD SHX Text
12"

AutoCAD SHX Text
12"

AutoCAD SHX Text
12"

AutoCAD SHX Text
10"

AutoCAD SHX Text
10"

AutoCAD SHX Text
10"

AutoCAD SHX Text
12" STM

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONC. WALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONC. WALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONC. WALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELECTRIC,

AutoCAD SHX Text
TELEPHONE,

AutoCAD SHX Text
& CATV

AutoCAD SHX Text
16"

AutoCAD SHX Text
16"

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELECTRIC

AutoCAD SHX Text
TELEPHONE

AutoCAD SHX Text
TELEPHONE

AutoCAD SHX Text
ASPHALT PARKING

AutoCAD SHX Text
12"

AutoCAD SHX Text
 1/4" P-MP

AutoCAD SHX Text
6" S-MP

AutoCAD SHX Text
18"

AutoCAD SHX Text
6"

AutoCAD SHX Text
18"

AutoCAD SHX Text
18"

AutoCAD SHX Text
MONUMENT SIGN

AutoCAD SHX Text
W/ LIGHTS

AutoCAD SHX Text
12'

AutoCAD SHX Text
192.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
CROSS WALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
SIGNAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELECTRIC

AutoCAD SHX Text
HANDHOLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text
C-1

AutoCAD SHX Text
C-1

AutoCAD SHX Text
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text
RR

AutoCAD SHX Text
RR

AutoCAD SHX Text
RR

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELECTRIC BOX

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED PROVISIONING USE

AutoCAD SHX Text
35' ADJACENT TO RESIDENTIAL W/ SCREEN WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text
35' ADJACENT TO RESIDENTIAL W/ SCREEN WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text
11/15/2019

AutoCAD SHX Text
SITE DATA

AutoCAD SHX Text
1-STORY BUILDING

AutoCAD SHX Text
16,617 SQ. FT. (TOTAL)



Attachment  B



Attachment B – Employment and Hours of Operation 

Employment 

Due to our currently operating provisioning center, HG has a comprehensive understanding of 
staffing needs at this location. The table below shows average daily staffing along with total staff 
anticipated.  HG will not be working in shifts, however staffing needs will be different 
depending on the time of day. Finally, HG anticipates hiring full, rather than part, time 
employees for all positions. 

Position 

FTE’s 

Avg. Daily 

Staffing 

Morning/Afternoon 

Shift 

Afternoon/Evening 

Shift 

Avg. Total Staff 

C-Level 
Executives 

1 0-1 0-1 2 

Managers 2 1 1-2 4 

Consultants 4 2 4 8 

Receptionists 1.5 1 2 2 

Total 8.5 5 9 16 

 
 
Hours of Operation 
HG will operate from 8 am to 5 pm weekdays, and limited hours on weekends. 

Day of Week Hours of Operation 

Monday 9:00 am to 8:00 pm 

Tuesday 9:00 am to 8:00 pm 

Wednesday 9:00 am to 8:00 pm 

Thursday 9:00 am to 8:00 pm 

Friday 9:00 am to 8:00 pm 

Saturday 9:00 am to 8:00 pm 

Sunday 9:00 am to 8:00 pm 



Attachment  C







































































Attachment  D



23'-0" SUITE WIDTH

6'-2"

3'
-8

"
EXISTING METAL FACADE TO
REMAIN.

ILLUMINATED SIGN TO REPLACE
EXISTING AT BUILDING FACADE.
SIGN NOT TO EXCEED 23
SQ.FT.

NEW INSERT WITHIN EXISTING
STREET STREET POLE SIGN.

EXISTING STOREFRONT TO
REMAIN.

EXISTING COLUMNS TO
REMAIN.

EXISTING METAL FACADE TO
REMAIN.

ILLUMINATED SIGN TO REPLACE
EXISTING.

EXISTING STOREFRONT TO
REMAIN.

EXISTING COLUMNS TO
REMAIN.

the

group

peabody

ARCHITECTS & DESIGNERS

4740 Marsh Road
Okemos, Michigan  48864
Phone: (517) 349-0902
Cell: (586) 243-5945

Copyright 2019 the peabody group

www.tpgarch.com

2119 Haslett Road., Suite 'A' - Signage
Haslett Gallery, Inc.

Building Elevation

Partial Building Facade Street Pole Sign



2119 Haslett Road., Suite 'A'
Haslett Gallery, Inc.

the

group

peabody

ARCHITECTS & DESIGNERS

4740 Marsh Road
Okemos, Michigan  48864
Phone: (517) 349-0902
Cell: (586) 243-5945

Copyright 2019 the peabody group

www.tpgarch.com

HASLETT ROAD

O
KE

M
O

S
 R

O
A
D

  

LOCATION OF EXISTING POLE SIGN

LOCATION OF LEASE SPACE WITHIN EXISTING
RETAIL CENTER.

SITE OVERVIEW



5"

8'
-5

"

5"

8'
-0

"

19
'-0

"
5"

5"
11

'-4
"

5"
8'

-0
"

66
'-1

0"

SECURE

STAFF ROOM

WAITING

RECPT.

UNISEX

MECH.

STORAGE

SALES AREA

MGR.

AND

SEC.

5"

14
'-7

"

22'-6"

COMMON CORRIDOR TO OUTSIDE

21
'-2

"
5"

14
'-1

"

5'
-0

"

5"

18
'-2

"

5"

19
'-0

"

FLOOR PLAN

SCALE: 1/8" = 1'-0"

SECURE ACCESS LOCATIONS.

NEW MTL. STUD AND DRYWALL
WALLS.

EXISTING WALLS TO REMAIN.

NORTH

GENERAL PROJECT DATA

BUILDING DESCRIPTION:  EXISTING LEASE SPACE WITHIN COMMERCIAL
BUILDING TO BE REMODELED, NO AUTOMATIC FIRE SUPPRESSION SYSTEM.

ZONING: C-2
CONSTRUCTION TYPE: 5-B
OCCUPANCY TYPE: M (MERCANTILE)

BUILDING AREA:
-----------------------------------------------
PROVISIONING CENTER (USE GROUP M)
-----------------------------------------------

TOTAL LEASE SPACE AREA (INSIDE EXTERIOR WALLS PER CODE): 1,510 SQ.FT.
TOTAL NET RENTABLE: 1,510 X 90% =1,359 SQ.FT.
BUILDING HEIGHT: ONE STORY AND 16'-0" +/-

OCCUPANT LOAD: SALES - 872 / 60 = 16 PERSONS
 OTHER AREAS - 909 / 300 = 2 PERSONS
 TOTAL OCCUPANT LOAD = 18 PERSONS

INSTALL NEW 22 GA. MTL. STUDS,
WITH DRYWALL AT ALL NEW WALL
LOCATIONS. TYP.

INSTALL NEW RESTROOM,
RUNNING REQUIRED PIPING TO
LOCATION.

NEW CABINETRY FOR DISPLAY AND
TRANSACTION PURPOSES.

NEW SOLID CORE DOOR SET IN
H.M. DOOR FRAME, MATCH
EXISTING.

NEW CABINETRY FOR DISPLAY AND
TRANSACTION PURPOSES.

DASHED LINES DENOTE WALLS
AND OTHER ITEMS TO BE
REMOVED OR MODIFIED.

EXISTING RECEPTION COUNTER TO
REMAIN, MODIFY AS DEPICTED.

FROST EXISTING GLASS FOR
OPAQUE FINISH.

UNISEX

RESTRICTED ACCESS AREAS.

LIMITED ACCESS AREAS

PATIENT ACCESS AREAS

3'-10" 8'-10 3/8"7'-1"2'-9"

22'-6"

the

group

peabody

ARCHITECTS & DESIGNERS

4740 Marsh Road
Okemos, Michigan  48864
Phone: (517) 349-0902
Cell: (586) 243-5945

Copyright 2019 the peabody group

www.tpgarch.com

2119 Haslett Road., Suite 'A'
Haslett Gallery, Inc.



Attachment  E



 

 
 
Mr. James Daly 
Haslett Gallery INC 
106 N 4th Ave Suite 302 
Ann Arbor, MI 48104 
 

   November 19, 2019 
Dear Mr. Daly: 
 
Traffic Engineering Associates, Inc. (TEA) conducted a trip generation comparison for the 
proposed Marijuana Dispensary which will be located at 2119 Haslett Road, Unit A, 
Meridian Charter Township, Ingham County, Michigan. 
 
 
PROJECT DESCRIPTION 
 
The proposed Marijuana Dispensary will be using an existing 1600 square foot building 
that was previously occupied by a State Farm Insurance agent. 
 
 
TRAFFIC ANALYSIS 
 
Existing Use 
For this analysis, trip generation rates were derived from the ITE TRIP GENERATION 
MANUAL (10th edition). The ITE trip generation rates for Small Office Building (Land Use 
Code 712) were selected as representing the existing land use for the 1600 square foot 
office building.  The ITE description of Small Office Building is as follows: 
 
A small office building houses a single tenant and is less than or equal to 5,000 gross 
square feet in size.  It is a location where affairs of business, commercial or industrial 
organization, or professional person or firm are conducted.  
 
It is projected that the existing land use generates 3 vehicle trips during the AM peak 
hour, 4 vehicle trips during the PM peak hour, and a weekday (24-hour) total of 26 vehicle 
trips. 
 

Existing Vehicle Trips 

Land Use Size AM Peak Hour PM Peak Hour Weekday In Out Total In Out Total 
Small Office 
Building, Land 
Use Code 712  

1,600 
Sq. ft.  2 1 3 1 3 4 26 

 
 



2 
 

 

Proposed Use 
For this analysis, trip generation rates were derived from the ITE TRIP GENERATION 
MANUAL (10th edition). The ITE trip generation rates for Marijuana Dispensary (Land 
Use Code 882) were selected as representing the proposed 1,600 square foot building.  
The ITE description of Marijuana Dispensary is as follows: 
 
A marijuana dispensary is a standalone facility where cannabis is sold to patients or 
consumers in a legal manner. 
 
It is projected that the proposed land use would generate 17 vehicle trips during the AM 
peak hour, 35 vehicle trips during the PM peak hour, and a weekday (24-hour) total of 
404 vehicle trips. 
 

Proposed Vehicle Trips 

Land Use Size AM Peak Hour PM Peak Hour Weekday In Out Total In Out Total 

Marijuana Dispensary, 
Land Use Code 882  

1,600 
Sq. ft. 10 7 17 17 18 35 404 

 
 
 
COMPARISON 
 
A comparison of the site traffic generated from the existing office building versus the 
proposed dispensary development shows that the proposed development is expected to 
generate 14 more vehicle trips during the AM peak hour, 31 more vehicle trips during the 
PM peak hour, and 378 more vehicle trips during the 24-hour weekday. 
 

 
Comparison of Vehicle Trips  

Description AM Peak Hour PM Peak Hour Weekday In Out Total In Out Total 

Existing Site 2 1 3 1 3 4 26 

Proposed Site 10 7 17 17 18 35 404 

Difference +8 +6 +14 +16 +15 +31 +378 
 
 
 
 
 



3 
 

 

FINDINGS 
 
In accordance with the guidelines set forth in “Evaluating Traffic Impact Studies, A 
Recommended Practice for Michigan Communities,” sponsored by the Tri-County 
Regional Planning Commission and the Michigan Department of Transportation, if a 
proposed site is expected to generate at least 100 directional trips during the peak hour 
or at least 750 trips during an average day, a traffic impact statement is required.  If the 
traffic generated by the site is expected to be between 50 and 99 directional trips during 
a peak hour, a traffic impact assessment shall be required.   
 
Using the Evaluating Traffic Impact Studies, A Recommended Practice for Michigan 
Communities guideline, neither a traffic assessment nor a traffic impact statement would 
be required for this development based on projected volumes. 
 
If you have any questions, please write or call. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
Heather L. Zull, PE 
 
 



Attachment  F



Attachment E – Natural Features Assessment 

7a. There will be no changes to the natural features on the parcel. Due to this 
circumstance this question is not applicable to this application. Natural features are also 
included on the site plan 

7b. There will be no changes to the natural features on the parcel and therefore 
there will be no impacts on the natural features. 

7c. There will be no changes to the natural features on the parcel and no mitigation 
will need to take place to shield the natural features  



Attachment  G



Attachment G – SUP Request Standards 

1. A provisioning center at the proposed location aligns with the intent and purposes of
Meridian Township Code of Ordinances Chapter 86. Among the Chapter 86 listed and
applicable purposes to this project are fostering "harmonious relationships among land
uses" , and promote stability of the townships commercial areas; this project does both.
The project is a consumer facing business which anticipates interactions with customers
can take around 10 minutes, similar to those interaction times that are taking place at
other nearby businesses including salons, professional services, and targeted retail
establishments. This project is the exact same type of land use as the current retailors in
this area and its addition will promote stability in the area by adding an anchor type
consumer serving business to the corner mall. Finally, the planning commission and
township board have endorsed the location by including this parcel as part of the
medical marihuana overlay district.

2. The project is consistent with the Meridian Master Plan. The project is in a commercially
zoned parcel of a Mixed-Use Core Area with multiple types of available transportation. It
promotes pedestrian use a it is situated on the Haslett Road bike lane (road diets)
portion with an existing pedestrian pathway. There is also public transit located on the
adjacent roadway.  This project, along with the surrounding businesses, is accessible by
foot and vehicular traffic, which will help create a small community of consumer facing
businesses for the nearby residents of the municipality.

3. This will have no change on the existing or intended character of the general vicinity
because the project contains minimal changes to the parcel’s currently constructed
building. It is appropriate to conclude that the area's essential character will remain
unchanged.

4. The project will compliment existing neighboring uses. The project includes a small
consumer facing business consistent with those types of organizations in the immediate
vicinity. The project also includes a robust surveillance system addressing the interior
and exterior of the project. The addition of exterior surveillance cameras results in
additional security for surrounding organizations and a potential resource for local
authorities. Finally, the project also includes odor mitigation elements to make sure
there is no potential nuisance to the surrounding neighbors. See Legalizing Marijuana
Could Give Michigan Home Values A Boost, available at
https://www.forbes.com/sites/alyyale/2018/12/06/legalizing-marijuana-could-give-
michigan-home-values-a-boost/#17ac9d5140e4  and Contact High: The External Effects
of Retail Marijuna Establishments on House Prices, available at:
https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=2885017

5. This project will likely increase the economic welfare of the surrounding properties and
community. They type of project contemplated for this parcel has been shown to



increase property prices of neighboring and closely situated parcels. Additionally, the 
existence of a type of business that has never been in the current property will increase 
adjacent business opportunities for new customers that would not ordinarily visit the 
area. 
 

6. The public facilities adequately serve the current buildings on the parcel as there is little 
to no change in the intensity of the use. There is little to no-change in the building 
presented in the project and therefore the building will continue to be adequately 
served by the public facilities. 
 

7. The public sanitation facilities adequately serve the current buildings on the parcel. 
There is little to no-change in the parcel presented in the project and therefore the 
parcel will continue to be adequately served by the public sanitation facilities. 

 
8. This project will not affect the general welfare of those individuals and entities close to, 

or adjacent, to the proposed facility.  There is currently no, and due to the lack of 
changes there will not be, any uses, activities, processes, materials, and equipment or 
conditions of the operation. Specifically, there will be no packaging on site, this activity 
is the number 1 cause of order and by not doing such on site, we can anticipate no odor. 
However, the organization will continue to put other odor mitigating procedures in 
place, including placing carbon air filters and maintaining negative air pressure in the 
facility. 
 

9.  This project will have limited to zero impact on the surrounding areas due to the 
minimal changes to the premises as espoused in this application. 



 

 
Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 
 

 

To:  Planning Commission 
 
From:  Brian J. Shorkey, AICP 
  Principal Planner 
 
Date:  June 24, 2024 
 
Re: TA #2024-06 – RN – Village of Nemoka Updates 
 
As Staff has continued evaluating the Zoning Ordinance, it has been discovered that the RN – Village 
of Nemoka district, Sec. 86-377 in the Zoning Ordinance, contains several incorrect references when 
references allowed land uses and dimensional regulations. Uses permitted by right include all uses 
permitted in the RB – Residential district, as well as two-family dwellings. Special uses permitted 
include all uses permitted in subsection 86-376(c), as well as the problematic phrase, “uses 
permitted by special use permit from the Planning Commission or Planning Director.” 
 
This proposed amendment eliminates references other sections of the Zoning Ordinance for allowed 
land uses, special land uses, and dimensional requirements. It also amends the allowed land uses 
and special land uses to eliminate land uses that are incompatible with the RN district and to bring 
the special land uses into conformance with Michigan Planning law. Finally, the subjective phrase, 
“uses permitted by special use permit from the Planning Commission or Planning Director” has been 
removed. 
 
The Planning Commission held a public hearing on the amendment at their regular meeting on June 
10, 2024 and indicated support. At this time, Staff would recommend approval of the proposed 
ordinance changes. A resolution to recommend approval of the proposed zoning amendment is 
provided. 
 
Motion to adopt the resolution recommending approval of Zoning Amendment #2024-06 in 
accordance with the revised draft ordinance language. 
 
Attachment 
1. Resolution recommending approval of Ordinance #2024-06 to the Township Board 
2. Clean version of Ordinance #2024-06  – RN District Update 
3. Redlined version of Ordinance #2024-06  – RN District Update 
 
 



RESOLUTION TO RECOMMEND APPROVAL              Zoning Amendment #2024-06 
Village of Nemoka Updates 

  
RESOLUTION 

 
At the regular meeting of the Planning Commission of the Charter Township of Meridian, 

Ingham County, Michigan, held at the Meridian Municipal Building, in said Township on the 24th 
day of June, 2024 at 6:30 p.m., Local Time. 
 
PRESENT:  
 
ABSENT:   

 
 The following resolution was offered by ____________________ and supported by 
_________________________. 
 

WHEREAS, Township Planning Staff discovered incorrect links in Sec. 86-377 – Village of 
Nemoka Mixed Residential District; and 

 
WHEREAS, Township Planning Staff discussed a potential update to correct the language in 

Sec. 86-377 at their regular meetings at March 11, 2024, March 25, 2024, April 18, 2024, and May 
13, 2024; and 

 
WHEREAS, the draft ordinance would specifically list allowed land uses in Sec. 86-377; and 
 
WHEREAS, the draft ordinance would specifically list allowed special uses in Sec. 86-377; 

and 
 
WHEREAS, the draft ordinance would specifically list dimensional regulations in Sec. 86-

377; and 
 
WHEREAS, the draft ordinance would amend allowed land uses to remove uses that are 

incompatible with the RN district; and 
 

WHEREAS, the draft ordinance would amend special uses to add Group Child Care Homes to 
bring the RN district into conformance with State planning law; and 

 
WHEREAS, the draft ordinance would remove subjective language that allows the Planning 

Director or the Planning Commission to decide what uses are allowed by special use permits 
beyond those listed; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Planning Commission held a public hearing on the draft ordinance on June 

10, 2024. 
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED THE PLANNING COMMISSION OF THE CHARTER 

TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN hereby recommends approval to the Township Board for Zoning 
Amendment #2024-06, to amend the zoning ordinance as described in this resolution. 

 
ADOPTED: YEAS:  
 
  NAYS:   
 



Zoning Amendment #2024-06 – Village of Nemoka Updates 
June 24, 2024 
Page 2 
 
 
STATE OF MICHIGAN ) 
    ) ss 
COUNTY OF INGHAM ) 
 

I, the undersigned, the duly qualified and acting Chair of the Planning Commission of the 
Charter Township of Meridian, Ingham County, Michigan, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is 
a true and complete copy of a resolution adopted at a regular meeting of the Planning Commission 
on the 24th day of June, 2024. 
 
 

       _____________________________  
       Alisande Shrewsbury 
       Planning Commission Chair 



1 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2024-10 1 
 2 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND SECTION 86-375, RN DISTRICT: VILLAGE OF NEMOKA MIXED 3 
RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT, OF THE CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN ZONING CODE TO UPDATE 4 

THE STANDARDS THEREIN 5 
 6 

THE CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN ORDAINS: 7 
 8 
Section 1. Section 86-375, RN District: Village of Nemoka Mixed Residential District, is hereby 9 

amended to read as follows:  10 
 11 
(b) Uses permitted by right. 12 

(1)  Single-family dwellings 13 
(2) Two-family dwellings 14 
(3) Home occupations 15 
(4) Other customary accessory uses and buildings, provided such uses and buildings are 16 
incidental to the principal use and do not include any activity conducted as a business 17 
(5) Public parks, playgrounds, and other public open space for recreational uses 18 
(6) Railroad right-of-way 19 
(7) The temporary storage of not more than one unoccupied travel trailer or camper trailer 20 
upon each lot. 21 
(8) Public educational institutions 22 
(9) Private, noncommercial kennels 23 
(10) Foster family homes and foster family group homes 24 
(11) Garage sales, for no longer than three days and no more than twice per calendar year on the 25 
same property 26 
(12) Family child care homes 27 
(13) Family adult care homes 28 

 29 
(c) Uses permitted by special use permit.  30 

(1) Group child care homes 31 
(2) Development containing a mix of single-family detached dwellings and two-family dwellings; 32 
a mix of two-family dwellings and multiple-family dwellings; or a mix of single-family detached 33 
dwellings, two-family dwellings, and multiple-family dwellings. In any case the number of single-34 
family dwellings may not exceed more than 50% of the density (dwelling units per acre) allowed 35 
for the proposed development. Multiple-family dwellings may be developed at a maximum 36 
density of 14 dwelling units per acre. 37 
(3) Community center when part of a housing project 38 
(4) Nonresidential structures and uses in accordance with § 86-654 39 
 40 

(d) Procedure for obtaining special use permits. The procedures set forth in Section 86-125 shall be 41 
followed. 42 
 43 
(e) Duration and validity of permit. Special use permits granted in the RN district shall be subject to the 44 
provisions of Section 86-128. 45 
(f) Minimum design standards. 46 
 (1) Single-family detached structures. 47 

a. Minimum lot area: 8,000 square feet, except that a two-family dwelling shall have 48 
11,000 square feet. 49 
b. Minimum interior lot width: 65 feet, except that a two-family dwelling shall have 100 50 
feet. 51 



2 
 

c. Minimum corner lot width: 70 feet along the street upon which the lot fronts. 1 
d. Maximum lot coverage: All buildings shall not cover more than 35% of the total area. 2 
e. Minimum yard dimension: 3 

i. Front yards. In accordance with the setback requirements of Section 86-367 for 4 
the type of street upon which the lot fronts. 5 
ii. Side yards. Seven feet. 6 
iii. Rear yards. For lots up to 150 feet in depth, the rear yard shall not be less than 7 
30 feet in depth. For lots over 150 feet in depth, the rear yard shall not be less 8 
than 40 feet in depth. 9 
iv. Corner lots. A front yard shall be maintained on each street side of a corner lot. 10 
v. Through and reverse frontage lots: Principal buildings shall be located in 11 
accordance with the front yard setback requirements of § 86-367 for the type of 12 
streets upon which the through or reverse frontage lot abuts. Access to 13 
residential sites shall be located on the street with the lowest functional 14 
classification as illustrated in § 86-367. All regulations applicable to front yards 15 
shall apply, except freestanding accessory buildings or structures proposed for 16 
reverse frontage lots shall be located no closer than 30 feet from the right-of-way 17 
of the designated rear yard. 18 

f. Supplementary yard regulations. For permitted reductions in yard dimensions, for 19 
permitted yard encroachments, and for placement of accessory buildings in yard areas, 20 
refer to Article V, Division 4 of this chapter. 21 
g. Maximum building height. No residential structure shall exceed 2 1/2 stories or 35 feet. 22 
Accessory buildings shall not exceed a height of 15 feet on any residential lot. For 23 
permitted exceptions to residential building heights, refer to Article V, Division 5 of this 24 
chapter. For building height limitations for nonresidential structures in residential 25 
districts refer to § 86-654. 26 
 27 

(2) Multiple-family structures shall comply with the following minimum design standards.  28 
a. Minimum lot area: There is no minimum lot area for a multiple-family structure, 29 
provided that the density does not exceed 14 units per acre. 30 
b. Minimum lot width: 100 feet. 31 
c. Maximum lot coverage: All buildings shall not cover more than 35% of the total area. 32 
d. Front yard: No less than 25 feet for one- or two-story buildings, with an additional 33 
one foot required for each additional one foot the building exceeds 35 feet in height. 34 
e. Side yards: 35 
 i. Three families to 10 families shall not be less than 15 feet. 36 

ii. Greater than 10 families shall not be less than 25 feet from the property line for 37 
one- or two-story buildings, with an additional foot required for each additional 38 
foot of height of the building over 35 feet. 39 

f. Rear yard: Building shall not be less than 40 feet from the property line for one- or two-40 
story buildings, with an additional foot required for each additional foot of height of the 41 
building over 35 feet. 42 
g. Required setbacks: In addition to the foregoing, all buildings shall be located in 43 
accordance with the particular setback requirement of § 86-367. 44 
h. Distance from a single-family boundary: No single-family, two-family, or multiple-45 
family building designed, erected, or used for three or more families shall be located 46 
closer than 50 feet to any single-family residential zone line, nor shall any accessory 47 
building to a multiple structure containing three or more dwelling units be located closer 48 
than 50 feet to any single-family residential zone line. 49 
i. Distance between buildings: 50 

https://ecode360.com/28781502#28781502
https://ecode360.com/28781502#28781502
https://ecode360.com/28783506#28783506
https://ecode360.com/28783506#28783506
https://ecode360.com/28783728#28783728
https://ecode360.com/28781502#28781502


3 
 

i. Minimum distance. Buildings with two or more dwelling units shall be located 1 
no closer than 25 feet to any other building. Detached single-family dwellings 2 
shall be located no closer than 10 feet from any other building. 3 
ii. Closed courts. No courts completely enclosed by building structure shall be 4 
permitted; however, screen walls not exceeding six feet in height are permitted 5 
to enclose what would otherwise be open court. All dimensional requirements for 6 
open courts shall apply to such enclosed courts. 7 
iii. Open courts. 8 

1. Projecting wings of a building that form a court, enclosed on three 9 
sides, shall conform to the following when the court face of either 10 
wing contains windows from a living room, bedroom, or dining room: 11 

a. The minimum distance between wings shall be 50 feet for 12 
one-story buildings. For any additional stories added to 13 
either wing, the distance shall be increased five feet for each 14 
additional story added to either wing. 15 

b. The maximum distance that a wing can project from the face 16 
of a building shall be 1 1/2 times the horizontal distance 17 
between wings. 18 

2. Projecting wings of a building that form a court enclosed on three 19 
sides shall conform to the following when neither court face of the 20 
wings contains a window from a living room, bedroom, or dining 21 
room: 22 

a. The minimum distance between wings shall be 25 feet for 23 
one-story buildings. For any additional stories added to 24 
either wing, the distance shall be increased �ive feet for each 25 
additional story added to either wing. 26 

b. The maximum distance a wing can project from the face of a 27 
building shall be 1 1/2 times the horizontal distance 28 
between wings. 29 

3. Other yard dimensions: 30 
a. Any single-family detached dwelling, two-family dwelling, 31 

or multiple-family structure containing three or more units 32 
shall not be located closer than 20 feet to any street, access 33 
road, driveway, or parking area. 34 

b. Any single building or connected building may not exceed 35 
200 feet in any one dimension. All buildings shall be so 36 
arranged as to permit emergency vehicle access, by some 37 
practical means, to all sides. 38 

j. Maximum building height. Maximum building height shall not exceed 2 1/2 stories or 39 
35 feet, except as noted below. No space below grade level shall be used for dwelling 40 
purposes except as follows: 41 

i. When the finished floor grade of the space below grade level is no more than 42 
four feet below finished outside ground level at any point on the property of that 43 
part of the structure enclosing the below-grade dwelling space. 44 
ii. On sloping sites when the finished floor grade of the space below grade level is 45 
finished outside ground level for at least the length of one wall. In the same 46 
instance, such dwelling space have either adequate through- or cross-ventilation. 47 

k. Signs. Identifying any of the permitted uses in this district shall be in accordance with 48 
those requirements specified in Article VII of this chapter. 49 
l. Parking requirements. For motor vehicle and bicycle parking requirements, refer to 50 
§ 86-366 and Article VIII of this chapter. In addition, every multiple-family structure 51 
shall provide motor vehicle parking facilities which: 52 

https://ecode360.com/28783851#28783851
https://ecode360.com/28781501#28781501
https://ecode360.com/28784006#28784006


4 
 

i. Are appropriately spaced and divided by landscaped areas as opposed to one 1 
continuous parking lot. 2 
ii. Are screened by landscaping and physical structures and, where feasible, 3 
depressed below eye level or enclosed. 4 
iii. Are served by two points of access to public street when there are 50 or more 5 
dwelling units in the project. 6 
iv. Are served by access to a public street other than a local street when there are 7 
25 or more dwelling units in the project. 8 
v. Shall provide a minimum of 180 square feet in area for each vehicle parking 9 
space, each space shall be definitely designated and reserved for parking 10 
purposes, and each space shall be accessible separately from a drive. 11 
vi. May be allowed within or under any multiple-family structure; however, 12 
carports or surface parking shall not be located closer than 20 feet to any 13 
multiple-family residential structure. 14 
vii. Shall have no parking located farther than 150 feet from one entrance to the 15 
multiple-family structure which it is intended to serve. 16 
viii. Shall have no commercial repair work, servicing, or selling of any kind 17 
conducted on any parking area. 18 

m. Storage of refuse. All refuse containers, including trash and recycling containers, shall 19 
be enclosed on at least three sides by a screening device approved by the Planning 20 
Director, subject to the following provisions: 21 

i. For existing uses receiving a certificate of occupancy prior to the effective date 22 
of this section, recycling containers shall be placed adjacent to other refuse 23 
containers on-site. If the Planning Director determines that it is not practical to 24 
place the container adjacent to other refuse containers on the site, such 25 
containers may be placed in parking areas, provided that the space used for the 26 
container shall not occupy required parking spaces, and further provided that 27 
recycling containers shall be enclosed on three sides by a screening device 28 
approved by the Planning Director. 29 
ii. For uses receiving a certificate of occupancy after the effective date of this 30 
section, recycling containers shall meet the requirements of this section and the 31 
requirements for site plan review under Article II, Division 5, of this chapter. 32 

n. Landscaping required. Landscaping acceptable to the Planning Commission shall be 33 
provided in open spaces, around buildings, and within parking areas. No occupancy 34 
permit may be issued until landscaping has been inspected and approved or a 35 
performance bond equal to the estimated cost has been posted with the Township. 36 

i. A plan for control of soil erosion which meets the Township's standards for soil 37 
erosion and sedimentation control shall be carried out during the construction 38 
and completion of the project. 39 
ii. When deemed necessary by the Planning Commission, in order to protect 40 
surrounding properties, appropriate screening of plant materials, wood, or brick, 41 
approved by the Planning Commission, may be required. 42 

o. Those sites which contain wetlands and/or floodplains shall be permitted a maximum 43 
number of units based on the following formula: 44 
 45 
N = A x D x C 46 
 47 
Where: 48 
 49 
N = Maximum number of units permitted. 50 
A = Area of site outside the �loodplain and wetland. 51 
D = Allowable density 52 

https://ecode360.com/28780993#28780993


5 
 

C = 1 + percent of site in �loodplain and wetland expressed as decimal 1 
 2 
For purposes of this chapter, wetland areas are those lands which meet the definition of 3 
a wetland set forth in § 30301 of the Natural Resources and Environmental Protection Act 4 
(MCL § 324.30301). For purposes of this chapter, floodplain areas are those lands which 5 
meet the definition contained in § 86-436(b). 6 

 7 
Section 2. Validity and Severability.  The provisions of this Ordinance are severable and the 8 

invalidity of any phrase, clause or part of this Ordinance shall not affect the validity 9 
or effectiveness of the remainder of the Ordinance. 10 

 11 
Section 3.  Repealer Clause.  All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict therewith are 12 

hereby repealed only to the extent necessary to give this Ordinance full force and 13 
effect. 14 

 15 
Section 4.  Savings Clause.  This Ordinance does not affect rights and duties matured, penalties 16 

that were incurred, and proceedings that were begun, before its effective date. 17 
 18 
Section 5.  Effective Date.  This Ordinance shall be effective seven (7) days after its publication 19 

or upon such later date as may be required under Section 402 of the Michigan Zoning 20 
Enabling Act (MCL 125.3402) after filing of a notice of intent to file a petition for a 21 
referendum. 22 

 23 
ADOPTED by the Charter Township of Meridian Board at its regular meeting this XXth day of 24 
XXXXXXX, 2024.  25 
 26 
 27 

______________________________ 28 
Patricia Herring Jackson, Township Supervisor 29 

 30 
 31 

______________________________ 32 
Deborah Guthrie, Township Clerk 33 

https://ecode360.com/28782493#28782493


1 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2024‐10 1 
 2 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND SECTION 86-375, RN DISTRICT: VILLAGE OF NEMOKA MIXED 3 
RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT, OF THE CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN ZONING CODE TO UPDATE 4 

THE STANDARDS THEREIN 5 
 6 

THE	CHARTER	TOWNSHIP	OF	MERIDIAN	ORDAINS:	7 
 8 
Section	1.	 Section 86-375, RN District: Village of Nemoka Mixed Residential District, subsection 9 

(b) is hereby amended to read as follows:  10 
 11 
(b) Uses permitted by right. 12 

(1) All uses permitted by right in the RB district subject to the restrictions and dimensional 13 
requirements specified therefor. Single-family dwellings 14 
(2) Two-family dwellings 15 
(3) Home occupations 16 
(4) Other customary accessory uses and buildings, provided such uses and buildings are 17 
incidental to the principal use and do not include any activity conducted as a business 18 
(5) Public parks, playgrounds, and other public open space for recreational uses 19 
(6) Railroad right-of-way 20 
(7) The temporary storage of not more than one unoccupied travel trailer or camper trailer 21 
upon each lot. 22 
(8) Public educational institutions 23 
(9) Private, noncommercial kennels 24 
(10) Foster family homes and foster family group homes 25 
(11) Garage sales, for no longer than three days and no more than twice per calendar year on the 26 
same property 27 
(12) Family child care homes 28 
(13) Family adult care homes 29 
 30 

Section	2.	 Section 86-375, RN District: Village of Nemoka Mixed Residential District, subsection 31 
(c) is hereby amended to read as follows: 32 

 33 
(c) Uses permitted by special use permit from the Planning Commission or Planning Director. All uses 34 
permitted in Subsection 86-376(c) subject to all the procedures and restrictions specified therefor. 35 
 36 
Section	3.	 Section 86-375, RN District: Village of Nemoka Mixed Residential District, subsection 37 
(d) is hereby amended to read as follows: 38 
 39 
(d) )(c) Uses permitted by special use permit. All uses permitted in Subsection 86‐376(d)(1) subject to 40 
all the restrictions specified therefor. In the RN district multiple-family dwellings may be developed at a 41 
maximum density of 14 dwelling units per acre. (1) Group child care homes 42 

(2) Development containing a mix of single-family detached dwellings and two-family dwellings; 43 
a mix of two-family dwellings and multiple-family dwellings; or a mix of single-family detached 44 
dwellings, two-family dwellings, and multiple-family dwellings. In any case the number of single-45 
family dwellings may not exceed more than 50% of the density (dwelling units per acre) allowed 46 
for the proposed development. Multiple-family dwellings may be developed at a maximum 47 
density of 14 dwelling units per acre. 48 
(3) Community center when part of a housing project 49 
(4) Nonresidential structures and uses in accordance with § 86-654 50 



2 
 

 1 
Section	4.	 Section 86-375, RN District: Village of Nemoka Mixed Residential District, subsection 2 
(e) is hereby amended to read as follows: 3 

 4 
(e) (d) Procedure for obtaining special use permits. The procedures set forth in Subsection 86-376(e) 5 
Section 86-125 shall be followed. 6 
 7 
Section	5.	 Section 86-375, RN District: Village of Nemoka Mixed Residential District, subsection 8 
(f) is hereby amended to read as follows: 9 
 10 
(f) (e) Duration and validity of permit. Special use permits granted in the RN district shall be subject to 11 
the provisions of Subsection 86-376(f) and all other provisions applicable to special use permits contained 12 
in Article VII of this chapter Section 86-128. 13 
 14 
Section	6.	 Section 86-375, RN District: Village of Nemoka Mixed Residential District, subsection 15 
(g) is hereby amended to read as follows: 16 
 17 
(g) (f)Minimum design standards. 18 
 (1) Single-family detached structures shall comply with the dimensional requirements for RB 19 
district construction contained in Subsection 86-374(d). 20 

a. Minimum lot area: 8,000 square feet, except that a two-family dwelling shall have 21 
11,000 square feet. 22 
b. Minimum interior lot width: 65 feet, except that a two-family dwelling shall have 100 23 
feet. 24 
c. Minimum corner lot width: 70 feet along the street upon which the lot fronts. 25 
d. Maximum lot coverage: All buildings shall not cover more than 35% of the total area. 26 
e. Minimum yard dimension: 27 

i. Front yards. In accordance with the setback requirements of Section 86-367 for 28 
the type of street upon which the lot fronts. 29 
ii. Side yards. Seven feet. 30 
iii. Rear yards. For lots up to 150 feet in depth, the rear yard shall not be less than 31 
30 feet in depth. For lots over 150 feet in depth, the rear yard shall not be less 32 
than 40 feet in depth. 33 
iv. Corner lots. A front yard shall be maintained on each street side of a corner lot. 34 
v. Through and reverse frontage lots: Principal buildings shall be located in 35 
accordance with the front yard setback requirements of § 86‐367 for the type of 36 
streets upon which the through or reverse frontage lot abuts. Access to 37 
residential sites shall be located on the street with the lowest functional 38 
classification as illustrated in § 86‐367. All regulations applicable to front yards 39 
shall apply, except freestanding accessory buildings or structures proposed for 40 
reverse frontage lots shall be located no closer than 30 feet from the right-of-way 41 
of the designated rear yard. 42 

f. Supplementary yard regulations. For permitted reductions in yard dimensions, for 43 
permitted yard encroachments, and for placement of accessory buildings in yard areas, 44 
refer to Article V, Division 4 of this chapter. 45 
g. Maximum building height. No residential structure shall exceed 2 1/2 stories or 35 feet. 46 
Accessory buildings shall not exceed a height of 15 feet on any residential lot. For 47 
permitted exceptions to residential building heights, refer to Article V, Division 5 of this 48 
chapter. For building height limitations for nonresidential structures in residential 49 
districts refer to § 86‐654. 50 
 51 



3 
 

(2) Multiple-family structures shall comply with the following minimum design standards 1 
contained in Subsection 86‐376(b).  2 

a. Minimum lot area: There is no minimum lot area for a multiple-family structure, 3 
provided that the density does not exceed 14 units per acre. 4 
b. Minimum lot width: 100 feet. 5 
c. Maximum lot coverage: All buildings shall not cover more than 35% of the total area. 6 
d. Front yard: No less than 25 feet for one- or two-story buildings, with an additional 7 
one foot required for each additional one foot the building exceeds 35 feet in height. 8 
e. Side yards: 9 
 i. Three families to 10 families shall not be less than 15 feet. 10 

ii. Greater than 10 families shall not be less than 25 feet from the property line for 11 
one- or two-story buildings, with an additional foot required for each additional 12 
foot of height of the building over 35 feet. 13 

f. Rear yard: Building shall not be less than 40 feet from the property line for one- or two-14 
story buildings, with an additional foot required for each additional foot of height of the 15 
building over 35 feet. 16 
g. Required setbacks: In addition to the foregoing, all buildings shall be located in 17 
accordance with the particular setback requirement of § 86‐367. 18 
h. Distance from a single-family boundary: No single-family, two-family, or multiple-19 
family building designed, erected, or used for three or more families shall be located 20 
closer than 50 feet to any single-family residential zone line, nor shall any accessory 21 
building to a multiple structure containing three or more dwelling units be located closer 22 
than 50 feet to any single-family residential zone line. 23 
i. Distance between buildings: 24 

i. Minimum distance. Buildings with two or more dwelling units shall be located 25 
no closer than 25 feet to any other building. Detached single-family dwellings 26 
shall be located no closer than 10 feet from any other building. 27 
ii. Closed courts. No courts completely enclosed by building structure shall be 28 
permitted; however, screen walls not exceeding six feet in height are permitted 29 
to enclose what would otherwise be open court. All dimensional requirements for 30 
open courts shall apply to such enclosed courts. 31 
iii. Open courts. 32 

1. Projecting wings of a building that form a court, enclosed on three 33 
sides, shall conform to the following when the court face of either 34 
wing contains windows from a living room, bedroom, or dining room: 35 

a. The minimum distance between wings shall be 50 feet for 36 
one-story buildings. For any additional stories added to 37 
either wing, the distance shall be increased five feet for each 38 
additional story added to either wing. 39 

b. The maximum distance that a wing can project from the face 40 
of a building shall be 1 1/2 times the horizontal distance 41 
between wings. 42 

2. Projecting wings of a building that form a court enclosed on three 43 
sides shall conform to the following when neither court face of the 44 
wings contains a window from a living room, bedroom, or dining 45 
room: 46 

a. The minimum distance between wings shall be 25 feet for 47 
one-story buildings. For any additional stories added to 48 
either wing, the distance shall be increased ive feet for each 49 
additional story added to either wing. 50 



4 
 

b. The maximum distance a wing can project from the face of a 1 
building shall be 1 1/2 times the horizontal distance 2 
between wings. 3 

3. Other yard dimensions: 4 
a. Any single-family detached dwelling, two-family dwelling, 5 

or multiple-family structure containing three or more units 6 
shall not be located closer than 20 feet to any street, access 7 
road, driveway, or parking area. 8 

b. Any single building or connected building may not exceed 9 
200 feet in any one dimension. All buildings shall be so 10 
arranged as to permit emergency vehicle access, by some 11 
practical means, to all sides. 12 

j. Maximum building height. Maximum building height shall not exceed 2 1/2 stories or 13 
35 feet, except as noted below. No space below grade level shall be used for dwelling 14 
purposes except as follows: 15 

i. When the finished floor grade of the space below grade level is no more than 16 
four feet below finished outside ground level at any point on the property of that 17 
part of the structure enclosing the below-grade dwelling space. 18 
ii. On sloping sites when the finished floor grade of the space below grade level is 19 
finished outside ground level for at least the length of one wall. In the same 20 
instance, such dwelling space have either adequate through- or cross-ventilation. 21 

k. Signs. Identifying any of the permitted uses in this district shall be in accordance with 22 
those requirements specified in Article VII of this chapter. 23 
l. Parking requirements. For motor vehicle and bicycle parking requirements, refer to 24 
§ 86‐366 and Article VIII of this chapter. In addition, every multiple-family structure 25 
shall provide motor vehicle parking facilities which: 26 

i. Are appropriately spaced and divided by landscaped areas as opposed to one 27 
continuous parking lot. 28 
ii. Are screened by landscaping and physical structures and, where feasible, 29 
depressed below eye level or enclosed. 30 
iii. Are served by two points of access to public street when there are 50 or more 31 
dwelling units in the project. 32 
iv. Are served by access to a public street other than a local street when there are 33 
25 or more dwelling units in the project. 34 
v. Shall provide a minimum of 180 square feet in area for each vehicle parking 35 
space, each space shall be definitely designated and reserved for parking 36 
purposes, and each space shall be accessible separately from a drive. 37 
vi. May be allowed within or under any multiple-family structure; however, 38 
carports or surface parking shall not be located closer than 20 feet to any 39 
multiple-family residential structure. 40 
vii. Shall have no parking located farther than 150 feet from one entrance to the 41 
multiple-family structure which it is intended to serve. 42 
viii. Shall have no commercial repair work, servicing, or selling of any kind 43 
conducted on any parking area. 44 

m. Storage of refuse. All refuse containers, including trash and recycling containers, shall 45 
be enclosed on at least three sides by a screening device approved by the Planning 46 
Director, subject to the following provisions: 47 

i. For existing uses receiving a certificate of occupancy prior to the effective date 48 
of this section, recycling containers shall be placed adjacent to other refuse 49 
containers on-site. If the Planning Director determines that it is not practical to 50 
place the container adjacent to other refuse containers on the site, such 51 
containers may be placed in parking areas, provided that the space used for the 52 



5 
 

container shall not occupy required parking spaces, and further provided that 1 
recycling containers shall be enclosed on three sides by a screening device 2 
approved by the Planning Director. 3 
ii. For uses receiving a certificate of occupancy after the effective date of this 4 
section, recycling containers shall meet the requirements of this section and the 5 
requirements for site plan review under Article II, Division 5, of this chapter. 6 

n. Landscaping required. Landscaping acceptable to the Planning Commission shall be 7 
provided in open spaces, around buildings, and within parking areas. No occupancy 8 
permit may be issued until landscaping has been inspected and approved or a 9 
performance bond equal to the estimated cost has been posted with the Township. 10 

i. A plan for control of soil erosion which meets the Township's standards for soil 11 
erosion and sedimentation control shall be carried out during the construction 12 
and completion of the project. 13 
ii. When deemed necessary by the Planning Commission, in order to protect 14 
surrounding properties, appropriate screening of plant materials, wood, or brick, 15 
approved by the Planning Commission, may be required. 16 

o. Those sites which contain wetlands and/or floodplains shall be permitted a maximum 17 
number of units based on the following formula: 18 
 19 
N = A x D x C 20 
 21 
Where: 22 
N = Maximum number of units permitted. 23 
A = Area of site outside the loodplain and wetland. 24 
D = Allowable density 25 
C = 1 + percent of site in loodplain and wetland expressed as decimal 26 
 27 
For purposes of this chapter, wetland areas are those lands which meet the definition of 28 
a wetland set forth in § 30301 of the Natural Resources and Environmental Protection Act 29 
(MCL § 324.30301). For purposes of this chapter, floodplain areas are those lands which 30 
meet the definition contained in § 86‐436(b). 31 
 32 

Section	7. Validity and Severability.  The provisions of this Ordinance are severable and the 33 
invalidity of any phrase, clause or part of this Ordinance shall not affect the validity 34 
or effectiveness of the remainder of the Ordinance. 35 

 36 
Section	8.  Repealer Clause.  All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict therewith are 37 

hereby repealed only to the extent necessary to give this Ordinance full force and 38 
effect. 39 

 40 
Section	9.  Savings Clause.  This Ordinance does not affect rights and duties matured, penalties 41 

that were incurred, and proceedings that were begun, before its effective date. 42 
 43 
Section	10.  Effective Date.  This Ordinance shall be effective seven (7) days after its publication 44 

or upon such later date as may be required under Section 402 of the Michigan Zoning 45 
Enabling Act (MCL 125.3402) after filing of a notice of intent to file a petition for a 46 
referendum. 47 

 48 
ADOPTED by the Charter Township of Meridian Board at its regular meeting this XXth day of 49 
XXXXXXX, 2024.  50 
 51 



6 
 

 1 
______________________________ 2 

Scott Hendrickson, Township Supervisor 3 
 4 
 5 

______________________________ 6 
Deborah Guthrie, Township Clerk 7 



 

 

To:  Planning Commission  
 
From:  Brian Shorkey, Principal Planner 
 
Date:  June 10, 2024 
 
Re: Special Use Permit #24012 (Consumers Energy) 
 
 
Consumers Energy has submitted a request to construct a natural gas regulator station on the 
property on the northeast corner of Lake Lansing Road and Rutherford Drive (Subject Property). 
This is an upgrade of an existing station just south of the site on Lake Lansing Road. The Subject 
Property is vacant and approximately 0.18 acre in size. The Subject Property is zoned RB (Single 
Family Residential). Section 86-654(c) lists nonresidential uses that may be permitted in residential 
zoning districts by special use permit. Gas regulator stations may be permitted by special use permit. 
 
A public hearing for this application was held at the Planning Commission’s regular meeting on 
Monday, June 10, 2024, during which the Planning Commission indicated support for the 
application.  
 
The original staff report, dated June 10, 2024, is attached. Additional materials from the public hearing 
may be found at the following link: https://www.meridian.mi.us/government/boards-and-
commissions/agendas-packets-and-minutes/-folder-3610#docan5601_5944_42 
 
Staff would recommend approval of the proposed Special Use Permit to construct a natural gas 
regulator station on the property on the northeast corner of Lake Lansing Road and Rutherford 
Drive.  
 
Planning Commission Options 
The Planning Commission may approve, approve with conditions, or deny the special use permit.  A 
resolution to approve the request is provided. If the Planning Commission wishes to approve the 
special use permit, Staff suggests the following motion: 
 
Move to adopt the attached resolution approving Special Use Permit #24012, a request to 
construct a natural gas regulator station on the property on the northeast corner of Lake 
Lansing Road and Rutherford Drive. 
 
Attachments:   
1. Resolution recommending approval of the natural gas regulator station 
2. Staff report from the public hearing, dated May 13, 2024 
   
 



RESOLUTION TO APPROVE Special Use Permit #24012 
 Consumers Energy 
 

RESOLUTION 
 
 At a regular meeting of the Planning Commission of the Charter Township of Meridian, 
Ingham County, Michigan, held at the Meridian Municipal Building, in said Township on the 
24th day of June, 2024 at 6:30 p.m., Local Time. 
  
PRESENT:  
 
ABSENT:  
 
 The following resolution was offered by Vice-Chair Scales and supported Commissioner 
McConnell. 
 

WHEREAS, Consumers Energy has submitted a request to construct a natural gas 
regulator station on the property on the northeast corner of Lake Lansing Road and 
Rutherford Drive, known as the Subject Property; and 

 
WHEREAS, natural gas regulator stations are allowed under Sec. 86-654 – Nonresidential 

Structures and Uses in Residential Districts as Special Use Permits in residential districts; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Subject Property is zoned RB – Single-Family Residnential; and 

 
WHEREAS, the proposed project is consistent with the general standards for granting a 

special use permit found in Section 86-126 of the Code of Ordinances; and  
 
WHEREAS, the proposed project is consistent with the specifice standards for granting a 

special use permit found in Section 86-654(f)(4) of the Code of Ordinances 
 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED THE PLANNING COMMISSION OF THE CHARTER 

TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN hereby approves Special Use Permit #24012, subject to the 
following conditions: 
 

1. Approval is granted in accordance with the application materials submitted by the 
applicant. 

 
2. The applicant shall obtain any required building permits from the Building Department. 

 
3. The applicant shall obtain any and all other applicable permits, licenses, and approvals 

necessary to construct the new building. Copies of all permits, licenses, and approvals 
shall be submitted to the Department of Community Planning and Development prior to 
site plan approval. 
 

4. Any proposed future expansion, additions, or revisions to the proposed natural gas 
regulator station will require an amendment to Special Use Permit #24012. 

 
 
ADOPTED: YEAS:  



Resolution to Approve 
SUP #24012 (Consumers Energy) 
Page 2 
 
                                                                                             
  NAYS:  
 
STATE OF MICHIGAN ) 
    ) ss 
COUNTY OF INGHAM ) 
 
 I, the undersigned, the duly qualified and acting Chairperson of the Planning 
Commission of the Charter Township Meridian, Ingham County, Michigan, DO HEREBY 
CERTIFY that the foregoing is a true and a complete copy of a resolution adopted at a regular 
meeting of the Planning Commission on the 24th day of June, 2024. 
 
 
       ______________________________   
       Alisande Shrewsbury 
       Planning Commission Chairperson 
 



 

 

 

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 
 

To:  Planning Commission 
 
From:  Brian Shorkey, Principal Planner 
 
Date:  June 10, 2024 
 
Re: Special Use Permit #24012 (Consumers Energy) 
 
 
Consumers Energy has submitted a request to construct a natural gas regulator station on the 
property on the northeast corner of Lake Lansing Road and Rutherford Drive (Subject Property). 
This is an upgrade of an existing station just south of the site on Lake Lansing Road. The Subject 
Property is vacant and approximately 0.18 acre in size. The Subject Property is zoned RB (Single 
Family Residential). Section 86-654(c) lists nonresidential uses that may be permitted in residential 
zoning districts by special use permit. Gas regulator stations may be permitted by special use permit.  
 
Master Plan 
The Future Land Use Map from the 
2023 Master Plan designates the 
Subject Property as Transitional 
Residential. This is the same 
designation as the properties to the 
west, north, and east. The property to 
the south is in the City of East Lansing. 

 
Zoning 
The subject site is located in the RB 
(Single Family Residential) zoning 
district, which requires a minimum of 
70 feet of lot width and 8,000 square 
feet of lot area. Although the Subject 
Property is a corner lot, the front of the 
property is considered to be 
Rutherford Drive. With approximately 
159 feet of lot width on Rutherford 
Drive and 0.18 acre in lot area, the site 
meets the minimum requirements of 
the RB zoning district. However, the 
front and rear setbacks require 
variances before the site plan can be approved. The Applicant has already applied for those 
variances. 
 

 

FUTURE LAND USE MAP 



 
Special Use Permit #24012 (Consumers Energy) 
Planning Commission (June 10, 2024) 
Page 2 

  
Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 
 

 

Physical Features 
As already noted, the Subject Property 
is vacant. The Flood Insurance Rate 
Map (FIRM) for Meridian Township 
indicates floodplain is not present on 
or near the site. The Township 
Wetland Map indicates that there are 
no wetlands on the Subject Property. 
 
Streets and Traffic 
Access to the subject site is provided 
from Rutherford Drive, which is 
classified as a Local Road on the Street 
Setbacks and Service Drives map in the 
zoning ordinance. Because there is no 
expected traffic except for an 
occasional technical truck, a traffic 
assessment is not required for this 
request. 
 
Staff Analysis 
The special use permit review criteria 
found in Section 86-126 of the Code of 
Ordinances should be used when evaluating the proposed major amendment. Major amendments 
to a SUP are considered by the Planning Commission. Following is a staff response to the nine special 
use permit review criteria: 
 
1. The project is consistent with the intent and purposes of this Chapter. 
 

The Zoning Ordinance recognizes that some nonresidential uses may be useful to the occupants 
of residential areas and of the community. One of the listed nonresidential uses is gas regulater 
stations and these may be permitted by special use permit.  

 
2. The project is consistent with applicable land use policies contained in the Township’s 

comprehensive development plan of current adoption. 
 

The Future Land Use Map from the 2023 Master Plan designates the subject site in the 
Transitional Residential category. Gas regulator stations may be permitted by special use permit 
as a nonresidential use in a residential zoning district. 

 
3. The project is designed, constructed, operated, and maintained so as to be harmonious and 

appropriate in appearance with the existing or intended character of the general vicinity and that 
such a use will not change the essential character of the same area.   

 

 

Zoning 



 
Special Use Permit #24012 (Consumers Energy) 
Planning Commission (June 10, 2024) 
Page 3 

  
Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 
 

 

The applicant is proposing opaque fencing on the north and east sides of the Subject Property. 
The applicant is proposing 8-foot fencing, which would require a variance. The applicant has 
applied for this variance. 

 
4. The project will not adversely affect or be hazardous to existing neighboring uses. 
 

The station is proposed to be screened from surrounding homes on the north and east and traffic 
would be almost nonexistent.  

 
5. The project will not be detrimental to the economic welfare of surrounding properties or the 

community. 
 

There is no evidence to indicate being located adjacent to a school correlates to a reduction in 
property value. 

 
6. The project is adequately served by public facilities, such as existing roads, schools, stormwater 

drainage, public safety, public transportation, and public recreation, or that the persons or 
agencies responsible for the establishment of the proposed use shall be able to provide any such 
service. 

 
Road access from Rutherford Drive is adequate for the Subject Property. Township facilities are 
unnecessary for the station. The site plan will be reviewed by the Ingham County Road 
Department and the Ingham County Drain Commission for their approval. 

 
7. The project is adequately served by public sanitation facilities if so designed.  If on-site sanitation 

facilities for sewage disposal, potable water supply, and stormwater are proposed, they shall be 
properly designed and capable of handling the long-term needs of the proposed project. 
 
Improvements to the public utility systems are not necessary to facilitate the construction of the 
station. 

 
8. The project will not involve uses, activities, processes, materials, and equipment and conditions of 

operation that will be detrimental to any persons, property, or the general welfare by reason of 
excessive production of traffic, noise, smoke, fumes, glare, or odors. 

 
The station is not expected to emit odors, noise, fumes, or any other nuisance.     

 
9. The project will not directly or indirectly have a substantial adverse impact on the natural 

resources of the Township, including, but not limited to, prime agricultural soils, water recharge 
areas, lakes, rivers, streams, major forests, wetlands, and wildlife areas. 

 
The station will not adversely impact natural resources of the Township.   

 
The site location standards for nonresidential structures and uses in residential districts provided 
in Section 86-654(e) were also utilized with the special use permit review criteria to evaluate the 
building addition. 



 
Special Use Permit #24012 (Consumers Energy) 
Planning Commission (June 10, 2024) 
Page 4 

  
Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 
 

 

 
1. Any permitted nonresidential structure or use should preferably be located at the edge of a 

residential district, abutting a business or industrial district, or a public open space. 
 

The station is located on the edge of the district and adjacent to the City of East Lansing. 
 
2. All means shall be utilized to face any permitted nonresidential use on a major street. 
 

The Subject Property is a corner lot with frontage on Lake Lansing Road.  
 
3. Motor vehicle entrance and exit should be made on a major street or as immediately accessible 

from a major street as to avoid the impact of traffic generated by the nonresidential use upon the 
residential area.  

 
Access to Lake Lansing Road is not expected to be approved by the Ingham County Road 
Department. The Subject Property will be accessed from Rutherford Drive, but as noted, there 
will be almost no traffic to and from the site.  

 
4. Site locations should be preferred that offer natural or manmade barriers that would lessen the 

effect of the intrusion of the nonresidential use into a residential area. 
 
The station is proposed to be screened from surrounding homes on the north and east by opaque 
fences. 
 

5. Any proposed nonresidential use will not require costly or uneconomic extensions of utility service. 
 

Improvements to the public utility systems are not necessary to facilitate the construction of the 
station. 
 

Planning Commission Options 
The Planning Commission may recommend approval, approval with conditions, or denial of the 
proposed special use permit. A resolution will be provided at a future meeting. 
 
Attachments 
1. Special use permit application with attachments 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 

TRIBUTE OF APPRECIATION FOR COMMISSIONER JAMES MCCURTIS 
FOR OUTSTANDING PUBLIC SERVICE 

 
 

 
At a regular meeting of the Township Planning Commission of the Charter Township of Meridian, 
Ingham County, Michigan, held on the 24th day of June, 2024 at 6:30 p.m. local time.      
 
PRESENT:   

ABSENT:   
 

The following resolution was offered and read by _________________, supported by ________________________. 
       
WHEREAS, James McCurtis began his public service to the Township starting in 2023, when he was 
appointed to the Planning Commission; and 

WHEREAS, During his two-year tenure as Planning Commissioner, Mr. McCurtis has ably represented 
the interests of this Planning Commission and the citizens of Meridian Township, serving on the 
Planning Commission and also serving on the Zoning Board of Appeals; and 
 
WHEREAS, Mr. McCurtis worked tirelessly to advance and achieve the goals and objectives adopted by 
this Commission and the Township Board, selflessly contributing valuable focus, perspective, insight 
and energy to our most challenging efforts and subsequent accomplishments to the decision making 
process; and 

WHEREAS, Mr. McCurtis has been appointed to the Meridian Board of Trustees and must resign from 
the Planning Commission. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE TOWNSHIP PLANNING COMMISSION OF THE 
CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN, INGHAM COUNTY, MICHIGAN, wishes publicly to recognize, 
commend and thank James McCurtis for invaluable contributions to and impacts on the work of this 
Commission and the quality of life in this community. This Commission is grateful for your outstanding 
public service and wishes you well in your future pursuits. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THE TOWNSHIP PLANNING COMMISSION OF THE CHARTER  
TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN, INGHAM COUNTY, MICHIGAN, hereby adopts this tribute of 
appreciation to Planning Commissioner James McCurtis, as presented. 

      
         STATE OF MICHIGAN ) 

   )  ss 
         COUNTY OF INGHAM ) 

 
I, the undersigned, the duly qualified and acting Chair of the Township Planning Commission of the 
Charter Township of Meridian, Ingham County, Michigan, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing 
is a true and complete copy of a resolution adopted at a regular meeting of the Township Planning 
Commission on the 24th day of June, 2024. 

 
 

Alisande Shrewsbury 
Planning Commission Chair 


	REZ #24015 - PH Packet.pdf
	REZ #24015 - Traffic Study.pdf
	REZ #24015 - Sketch Plan.pdf
	REZONING criteria.pdf

	SUP #24017 - PC PH Packet.pdf
	Endorsed - SpecialUsePermitApplication- Haslett Gallery.pdf
	Full Attachments.pdf
	Blank Page
	Attachment A- SIte Plan- SUP_11-15-19.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	Layout1


	Attachment D- Architectural sketches pdf.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	Layout9

	10.29.19 sheet 2.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	Layout10


	10.29.19 sheet 3.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	Layout4





	2024-10 - RN Update - Packet.pdf
	2 - PC Resolution to Approve TA 24010.pdf
	Ordinance 2024-10 - RN Update CLEAN.pdf




